# Trinity College Trinity College Digital Repository

Senior Theses and Projects

Student Works

Spring 5-16-2016

An Initial Analysis of a Long-Term Ketogenic Diet's Impact on Motor Behavior, Brain Purine Systems, and Nigral Dopamine Neurons in a New Genetic Rodent Model of Parkinson's Disease

Jacob Rubin *Trinity College,* jacob.rubin@trincoll.edu

William H. Church Trinity College

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses

Part of the <u>Alternative and Complementary Medicine Commons</u>, <u>Biochemical Phenomena</u>, <u>Metabolism, and Nutrition Commons</u>, <u>Disease Modeling Commons</u>, <u>Laboratory and Basic Science</u> <u>Research Commons</u>, <u>Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons</u>, <u>Nervous System Diseases</u> <u>Commons</u>, <u>Neurosciences Commons</u>, <u>Other Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons</u>, <u>Pathological Conditions</u>, <u>Signs and Symptoms Commons</u>, and the <u>Therapeutics Commons</u>

# **Recommended** Citation

Rubin, Jacob and Church, William H., "An Initial Analysis of a Long-Term Ketogenic Diet's Impact on Motor Behavior, Brain Purine Systems, and Nigral Dopamine Neurons in a New Genetic Rodent Model of Parkinson's Disease". Senior Theses, Trinity College, Hartford, CT 2016.

Trinity College Digital Repository, http://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses/601

# TRINITY COLLEGE

# AN INITIAL ANALYSIS OF A LONG-TERM KETOGENIC DIET'S IMPACT ON MOTOR BEHAVIOR, BRAIN PURINE SYSTEMS, AND NIGRAL DOPAMINE NEURONS IN A NEW GENETIC RODENT MODEL OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE

BY

Jacob G. Rubin

# A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE NEUROSCIENCE PROGRAM IN CANDIDACY FOR THE MASTER'S DEGREE IN NEUROSCIENCE

# NEUROSCIENCE PROGRAM

HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT May 16, 2016 An Initial Analysis of a Long-Term Ketogenic Diet's Impact on Motor Behavior, Brain Purine Systems, and Nigral Dopamine Neurons in a New Genetic Rodent Model of Parkinson's Disease

BY

Jacob G. Rubin

Master's Thesis Committee

Approved:

William Church, Thesis Advisor

Susan Masino, Thesis Committee

Sarah Raskin, Director, Neuroscience Program

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
ABSTRACT	6
INTRODUCTION	7
Etiology, Symptomology, & Current Treatment	7
Neuroanatomy of PD	8
Modeling PD	
Purine Involvement in PD	
Purines and the Ketogenic Diet	15
The Metabolic Theory: Potential Effects of a Ketogenic Diet on PD	17
MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
Chemicals	19
Animal Handling and Diet Administration	19
DigiGait Behavioral Analysis	
Tissue Processing	
HPLC Analysis	
TH-Staining	
Protein Assays	
Data Collection, Quantification, and Analysis	
Experimental Groups	
RESULTS	
Chronic KD does not prevent weight gain	
KD alters $\beta$ HB but not glucose levels	
KD increases stride length and decreases stride frequency	29
KD changes purine neurochemistry	
KD appears to protect nigral dopamine cells	
DISCUSSION	36
Chronic KD does not prevent weight gain	36
KD alters $\beta$ HB but not glucose levels	
KD increases stride length and decreases stride frequency	39
KD changes purine neurochemistry	40

KD appears to protect nigral dopamine cells	
Methodological Considerations	
Conclusions	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
A. Solution Preparation	54
B. Pre-surgical Data Collection and Surgical Procedure	56
C. Post-surgical Tissue Processing and Data Collection Procedures	58
D. Supplementary Data	
E. Manuscript from related undergraduate work	

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my lab partners in the Church lab, past and present, whose company and support made the time I have spent conducting research at Trinity an enjoyable, productive, and invaluable experience. These individuals are Nathaniel Thiemann, Sheila Njau, Tom Naragon, Michelle Dyer, Emory Payne, Lucy Honeycutt, and Nikola Mizgier. I would also like to thank my second reader, Dr. Susan Masino, for her thoughtful and helpful critiques of my thesis. For providing space in his lab to house my experimental animals and conduct all procedures directly involving these animals I would like to acknowledge Dr. Harry Blaise. I would also like to acknowledge Jenny Nord for providing day-to-day care to my experimental animals. For his technical assistance and guidance I gratefully acknowledge Dr. David Ruskin. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Tom Hampton for providing the behavioral analysis and insight regarding these data and Dr. Paola Sacchetti and Maggie Elliot for conducting the immunohistochemical analysis. Finally, I would like to acknowledge my research advisor, Dr. William Church. After more than 2 years in his lab, Dr. Church has instilled in me a sense of professionalism and dedication which will serve me well in all my future endeavors. Furthermore, his patience and guidance has enhanced my abilities as a student, a scientist, and as a human being. I am indebted to him for providing me with the opportunity to join his laboratory as an undergraduate and for allowing me to continue on at the graduate level working on this incredibly exciting project.

# ABSTRACT

A growing body of research suggests that dopaminergic cell death seen in Parkinson's disease is caused by mitochondrial dysfunction. Oxidative stress, with subsequent generation of reactive oxygen species, is the hallmark biochemical product of mitochondrial dysfunction. The ketogenic diet has been found to enhance mitochondrial energy production, protect against reactive oxygen species-generated cell death, and increase adenosine, a purine that modulates dopamine activity. The current study evaluates the effects of a long-term (5-month) ketogenic diet on behavioral, neurochemical, and neuroanatomical measures in PINK1-KO rats, a new animal model of Parkinson's disease. Both wild-type and PINK1-KO animals fed a ketogenic diet exhibited significantly higher blood beta-hydroxybutyrate levels. PINK1-KO animals fed a normal diet experienced a decrease in stride length and an increase in stride frequency over time which was absent in PINK1-KO animals fed a ketogenic diet. Animals fed the ketogenic diet had decreased tissue content of both adenosine and inosine in the nucleus accumbens, posterior caudate, hippocampus, and substantia nigra. Finally, immunohistochemical staining for tyrosine hydroxylase-positive cells in the substantia nigra suggest a ketogenic diet-induced protection of dopaminergic cell death. The results of the present study indicate that a long-term ketogenic diet may positively impact both motor and neuroanatomical correlates and alter neurochemical systems in a genetic rodent model of Parkinson's disease.

# INTRODUCTION

# Etiology, Symptomology, & Current Treatment

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurological condition which causes motor impairments such as bradykinesia, muscular rigidity, postural instability, and resting tremors. The National Institute of Health (NIH) estimates that 500,000 people in the United States suffer from PD; prevalence of PD is expected to double by the year 2030 as the average age of our population grows older (NIH, n.d.; Dorsey et al., 2007). PD symptoms have been attributed to the progressive loss of dopamine (DA) cells in the substantia nigra (SN), but often do not manifest until 60-70% of these cells are already lost (for review see - Mhyre et al., 2012). These symptoms do not typically present until later in life with only 10% of diagnoses occurring before the age of 50 ("Parkinson's Disease: Hope Through Research," NIH). According to the NIH, the average age of symptom onset is 60 while other sources report that the mean age at diagnosis is 70.5 (NIH, n.d.; Van Den Eeden et al., 2003). Furthermore, incidence of PD increases by more than 350% in people over the age of 50 (Van Den Eeden et al., 2003). The most common therapy for patients suffering from PD is levodopa (L-DOPA), the precursor to DA, which can reduce the motor deficits to an extent. Still, treatments which attenuate or prevent dopaminergic (DAergic) cell death have yet to be discovered.

# **Neuroanatomy of PD**



**Fig. 1** The figure above displays the nigrostriatal pathway in the rat brain, relevant neuronal pathways, and relative dopamine D2 and adenosine  $A_{2A}$  receptor localization in the basal ganglia. Graphic created by Tom Naragon '17.

The motor deficits associated with PD have been attributed to the loss of DAergic neurons of the basal ganglia, particularly in the SN (Parkinson, 2002). The basal ganglia include the dorsal striatum (caudate nucleus and putamen), ventral striatum (nucleus accumbens and olfactory tubercle), globus pallidus internal and external (GPi and GPe), SN, and the subthalamic nucleus (STN) (Purves et al., 2001; Fig 2). An expansive discussion of each of these components is beyond the scope of the current paper but those with direct relevance to motor function and PD will be discussed. The SN is the main source of DA in the brain and provides the neurotransmitter to the striatum via the nigrostriatal pathway (Beckstead et al., 1979; Fig 1). The nigrostriatal pathway is the network most affected by Parkinsonian pathology (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003). Interestingly, the striatum projects only to other components of the basal ganglia yet it receives input from a variety of other brain regions; a full anatomical description is beyond the scope of this thesis.



**Fig. 2** The figure above depicts the neuronal pathways of the basal ganglia which play a crucial role in the facilitation of smooth motor movement in Parkinson's disease.

In the context of movement, the structures of the basal ganglia play key roles in allowing the initiation and inhibition of movement (Purves et al., 2001). The thalamus is the main target for these effects due to thalamocortical projections which facilitate activation of the motor cortex. The GPi projects GABAergic neurons to the thalamus which inhibit the thalamus from activating the motor cortex (Purves et al., 2001). When a movement is made, glutamatergic projections from the motor cortex activate striatal GABAergic neurons. These striatopallidal GABAergic cells inhibit the GABAergic neurons of the GPi and thus allow for increased thalamic activation. The GPe also receives inhibitory input from the striatum and sends its own GABAergic projections to the STN (Purves et al., 2001). The STN sends excitatory glutamatergic projections to the SN as well as the GPi. In the SN, glutamatergic neurons originating from the STN synapse at DAergic neurons which project to the striatum (Purves et al., 2001). In the GPi, glutamatergic projections from the STN augment firing of GABAergic projections to the thalamus which reduces thalamocortical facilitation of the motor cortex. DAergic neurons of the nigrostriatal pathway act on two different dopamine receptors; D<sub>1</sub> and D<sub>2</sub>. Agonistic action at D<sub>1</sub> receptors located on striatopallidal GABAergic neurons augment inhibition of the GPi. D<sub>2</sub> receptors, however, are localized to striatal glutamatergic neurons which synapse with striatal GABAergic projections to the GPe. Activation of D<sub>2</sub> receptors enhances inhibition of the GPe which sends GABAergic projections to the glutamatergic neurons of the STN (Purves et al., 2001). It is also important to note the presence of circuitry which serves as self-modulating feedback inhibition between the SN and the STN via nigral GABAergic neurons (Purves et al., 2001).

In PD, the death of nigrostriatal DAergic cells would reduce the ability of the GPi to attenuate excitatory thalamocortical projections. This effect would be compounded by decreases in the STN's ability to augment GPi inhibition of thalamocortical projections that would result from reduction of the SN's indirect control of the STN by way of the striatopallidal GABAergic projections to the GPe. Disinhibition of thalamocortical projections to motor areas may explain the jerky and unwanted movements associated with PD.

# **Modeling PD**

In order to study PD, models that induce the death of nigrostriatal DAergic neurons have been developed. Several animal models of PD use the administration of toxins specifically

designed to produce selective death of DAergic cells. 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) was one of the earliest toxin-induced models used to model PD and causes neurotoxicity by generating oxidative products when it breaks down extracellularly through auto-oxidation (Hanrott et al., 2006). The reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced cause oxidative stress which has been observed to lead to mitochondrial dysfunction, nuclear fragmentation, activation of the apoptotic caspase pathways, and selective DAergic cell death (Hanrott et al., 2006).

Another toxin-induced model was discovered by inhibiting activity of complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain using 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6- tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) and was found to produce selective DAergic cell death (Langston et al., 1983). The mitochondrial dysfunction created by MPTP leads to the generation of ROS, like in the 6-OHDA model, which can result in the activation of programmed cell death (PCD) mechanisms. Evidence of elevated activation of mitochondrial PCD mechanisms in nigral DAergic cells has been observed in PD which further strengthens the link between mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration in PD (Tatton, 2000; Hartmann et al., 2001). Furthermore, mitochondrial energy failure has been proposed to disrupt vesicular sequestration of DA (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003), which results in extravesicular auto-oxidation of DA into DA-quinone, which reacts with cysteine residues and destroys proteins (Graham, 1978).

These toxin-induced models selectively produce DAergic cell death because these cells are particularly susceptible to the generation of ROS (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003). This proclivity for creating ROS is a direct result of enzymatic metabolism of DA, which produces hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) and superoxide ( $O_2^{-1}$ ) radical, and auto-oxidation of cytosolic DA (Graham, 1978).

The major drawback to acute toxin-induced models of PD is that they do not accurately mimic the progressive loss of nigrostriatal DAergic neurons associated with human manifestations of the disease. However, a recent genetic model developed by Sage Laboratories has been able to address this challenge. By inhibiting the synthesis of phosphatase and tensin (PTEN)-induced kinase 1 (PINK1) the PINK1-knockout (PINK1-KO) model induces mitochondrial dysfunction and progressive loss of DAergic cells in the SN (Villeneuve et al., 2014). In healthy cells, decreases in mitochondrial membrane potential trigger the accumulation of PINK1 on the outer mitochondrial membrane (Imai, 2012). PINK1 recruits another protein, Parkin, from the cytosol which triggers the degradation and clearance of the damaged mitochondria. Without PINK1, dysfunctional mitochondria are not disposed of and produce toxic levels of ROS. Furthermore, it has been reported that PINK1-KO rats display hind limb dragging associated with their mutation (Dave et al., 2014). The PINK1-KO model presents a unique opportunity to study the progressive loss of DAergic neurons and observe Parkinson'slike motor deficits. Again, mitochondrial dysfunction is a well-established means for inducing DAergic cell death, making the PINK1-KO a useful model of human PD.

## **Purine Involvement in PD**

While L-DOPA may be the most common treatment for PD, its long-term use has frequently been associated with decreased efficacy ("off" periods) and dyskinesias (Ahlskog and Muenter, 2001). As a result, the need for non-dopaminergic (non-DAergic) therapies to address PD symptoms is necessary.

Several members of the purine neurochemical family like guanosine and uric acid have been linked to PD. Recent *in vitro* work has revealed that guanosine is able to activate cell

survival pathways in the presence of 6-OHDA (Giuliani et al., 2014). A large body of literature has been published which points to uric acid as a potential biomarker for disease progression in PD (Cipriani et al., 2010; Gao et al., 2016). Uric acid has also been shown to be neuroprotective against the free radical peroxynitrite, which has been associated with the pathology of several inflammatory CNS diseases (Scott and Hooper, 2001). Additionally, reduced levels of uric acid have been reported in postmortem SN tissue (Church and Ward, 1994). The most prominent findings however, are those concerning the purine adenosine. The neuroprotective properties of adenosine are well studied. Although adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptors are not directly linked to PD pathology, they are widely expressed throughout the CNS in glia and neurons (Dixon et al., 1996). A<sub>1</sub> receptors can exert neuroprotective effects by reducing the influx of presynaptic calcium and inhibiting glutamate release (Masino et al., 2002). Further research has indicated that this effect may in fact be one of feedback inhibition of hyper-excitatory firing, which may otherwise deplete energy and result in neural death (Lovatt et al., 2012).

A large body of research has revealed significant expression of adenosine  $A_{2A}$  receptors in the basal ganglia (Rivkees et al., 1995; Rosin et al., 1998; Hettinger et al., 2001; Rebola et al., 2005; Morelli et al., 2010). In striatopallidal neurons, activation of  $A_{2A}$  receptors increases the secretion of GABA in the globus pallidus (Ochi et al., 2000). Excess GABA in the globus pallidus suppresses the firing of pallidal GABAergic projections to the STN. A reduction in the inhibitory action of these projections leads to increased activation of glutamatergic neurons in the STN, which form synapses in both the globus pallidus and the SN. In a slightly more macroscopic perspective, highly active GABAergic projections of the basal ganglia attenuate the thalamocortical impact on the motor cortex and, ultimately, reduce the ability to elicit smooth motor function, as seen in patients with PD (Hauser RA and Schwarzschild MA, 2005).

In light of the localization and function of A<sub>2A</sub> receptors, the purinergic neurochemical system represents a unique non-dopaminergic target for modulating the striatal signaling altered in PD. Numerous studies have explored the effects of antagonistic action at A<sub>2A</sub> receptors in animal models of PD. A 1974 paper induced a unilateral lesion of the nigrostriatal DA pathway using 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) (Fuxe and Ungerstedt, 1974). Fuxe and Ungerstedt (1974) found that 6-OHDA-lesioned rats treated with L-DOPA displayed significant improvements in turning behavior following application of the A2A antagonists theophyllamine and caffeine. Later studies confirmed this finding using other  $A_{2A}$  antagonists such as 7-(2phenylethyl)-5-amino-2-(2-furyl)-pyrazolo-[4,3-e]-1,2,4-triazolo[1,5-c]pyrimidine (SCH 58261), (E)-8-(3,4-Dimethoxystyryl)-1,3-diethyl-7-methylxanthine, 8-[(1E)-2-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethenyl]-1,3-diethyl-3,7-dihydro-7-methyl-1H-purine-2,6-dione (KW-6002 or istradefylline), and (E)-phosphoric acid mono-[3-[8-[2-(3-methoxyphenyl)vinyl]-7 -methyl-2,6-dioxo-1-prop-2-ynyl-1,2,6,7-tetrahydropurin-3-yl]propyl] (MSX-3), all of which improved turning behavior in animals treated with L-DOPA or DA receptor agonists (Fenu et al., 1997; Koga et al., 2000; Strömberg et al., 2000a; Pinna et al., 2016). Furthermore, repeated treatment with A<sub>2A</sub> antagonists failed to exhibit any reduced efficacy of motor stimulation suggesting that, A2A antagonism ameliorates tolerance issues associated with L-DOPA treatments alone (Pinna et al., 2001).

Antagonism of the  $A_{2A}$  receptor has also been studied in the MPTP model of PD. It is important to note that rodent models are more resistant to this toxin and most successful reproduction of Parkinsonian syndrome with MPTP has been achieved in non-human primates (Bové et al., 2005). Since translation to non-human primates is an essential step in proof-ofconcept for  $A_{2A}$  receptor antagonism in human PD, studies have used monkeys treated with

MPTP to test the efficacy of targeting  $A_{2A}$  receptors (Kanda et al., 2000). The  $A_{2A}$  antagonist KW-6002 significantly improved motor dysfunction induced by MPTP toxicity (Kanda et al., 2000).

Recently, a dual target therapy combining antagonists of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) and the adenosine A<sub>2A</sub> receptor was tested in rats treated with 6-OHDA (Fuzzati-Armentero et al., 2015). While a combination of the mGluR5 antagonist, 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl) pyridine (MPEP), and the A<sub>2A</sub> antagonist, MSX-3, better protected DA cells in the SN from toxin-induced death, the MSX-3 alone also significantly reduced the toxin-induced cell death in the SN (Fuzzati-Armentero et al., 2015). Behaviorally, MSX-3 administered alone was found to significantly potentiate L-DOPA-induced turning behavior. Again, combination of MSX-3 with MPEP increased this effect and required lower concentrations than individual administration (Fuzzati-Armentero et al., 2015). Another recent study combined an A<sub>2A</sub> antagonist with a serotonin 1A/1B receptor agonist (Pinna et al., 2016). Pinna and colleagues found that in MPTP-treated monkeys the combination of both drugs reduced the dose of L-DOPA necessary for therapeutic effects. Additionally, administration of all three drugs significantly prevented dyskinetic-like behavior (Pinna et al., 2016). Still, antagonists of the A<sub>2A</sub> receptor are the frontrunners in non-dopaminergic therapies for PD with the first adenosine  $A_{2A}$ antagonist, istradefylline, being recently approved in Japan after successful phase-3 trials (Kondo and Mizuno, 2015).

### **Purines and the Ketogenic Diet**

The ketogenic diet (KD) is a high fat, low carbohydrate eating regimen and is already well established as a successful alternative treatment for medically refractory epilepsy (Freeman and Vining, 1998; Hemingway et al., 2001). The calorie restriction of the KD induces a state of

ketosis by breaking down fatty acids to ketone bodies in the liver (Paoli et al., 2013). These ketone bodies replace glucose as the body's main driver of energy production and have been shown to result in enhanced production of energy substrates (DeVivo et al., 1978). More specifically, elevated fatty acid levels by a KD eventually reach a threshold which surpasses the capacity of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and leads to enzymatic conversion of acetyl-CoAs into acetoacetate (ACA) and  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate ( $\beta$ HB). Both ACA and  $\beta$ HB are ketone bodies which travel through the blood, cross the blood-brain barrier, and enter the cells of the central nervous system. These ketone bodies are then transported into mitochondria where they are converted into acetyl-CoA and subsequently into ATP via the Krebs cycle (Masino and Rho, 2012). As an energy substrate ketone bodies have been found to improve ATP production and protect against ROS-induced damage (Kashiwaya et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2007; Maalouf et al., 2007; Veech, 2014).

The past decade has seen major strides in discovering the underlying processes which explain the KD's efficacy in epilepsy. Currently, the most compelling theory points to inhibitory action at adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptors (Masino et al., 2011). As such, research has pressed on, investigating the purinergic system's role in the anticonvulsant effects of the diet. One hypothesis proposes that the KD may in fact be increasing ATP levels which may be rapidly broken down into adenosine in the extracellular space (Masino and Geiger, 2008). By mimicking the low glucose environment of a KD, a study conducted by Kawamura et al. (2010) showed that reduction of extracellular glucose results in the release of ATP via pannexin-1 hemichannels in hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. Dephosphorylation of this extracellular ATP yields adenosine, which acts on A<sub>1</sub> receptors coupled to ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels to reduce neuronal excitability (Kawamura et al., 2010).

In addition to its application in epilepsy, the diet has also been proposed to have therapeutic benefits in other neurological conditions in which deficits in mitochondrial energy metabolism play a role (Baranano and Hartman, 2008; Stafstrom and Rho, 2012). The profundity of the KD's effects on mitochondrial energy metabolism was demonstrated by work using microarrays, which revealed an upregulation of 34 transcripts encoding energy metabolism enzymes (Bough et al., 2006). Furthermore, increased mitochondrial profiles were observed in hippocampal slices of these KD-fed rats. Stimulation of synaptic transmission in these slices exhibited high resistance to a low glucose environment, which suggests an increase in energy reserves (Bough et al., 2006).

While glucose restriction and ketone body-driven energy metabolism enhances production of energy substrates, ketone bodies specifically have been reported to have neuroprotective properties. ACA and  $\beta$ HB are both able to decrease the mitochondrial output of destructive ROS by increasing NADH oxidation in the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Maalouf et al., 2007). The same study found that glutathione, an endogenous free radical, was also reduced. This may be explained by a study which reported that elevated glutathione peroxidase activity was observed in the hippocampus of rats fed a KD (Ziegler et al., 2003). Ketone bodies also reduce mitochondrial membrane permeability induced by oxidative stressors such as, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and diamide (Kim et al., 2007). The same study affirmed the ability of ketone bodies to decrease ROS levels and provides substantial evidence of their capacity to prevent mitochondrial permeability and oxidative damage in neurons.

## The Metabolic Theory: Potential Effects of a Ketogenic Diet on PD

It is well documented that the DAergic neurodegeneration seen in PD is the result of mitochondrial dysfunction (Parker et al., 1989; Schapira et al., 1990; Hattori et al., 1991; Perier

et al., 2012). This is supported by studies which report that DAergic neurons are highly sensitive to free radicals, which are natural byproducts of energy metabolism (Miyazaki and Asanuma, 2008). The KD has been shown to improve mitochondrial energy production and the ketone body  $\beta$ HB is a more efficient energy substrate in terms of ATP generation (DeVivo et al., 1978; Veech, 2014). In light of the growing body of research highlighting the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in PD, as well as literature which reports KD-induced enhancements in mitochondrial energy production, the KD could present a possible therapeutic benefit for PD.

The purpose of the current study is to evaluate the KD's ability to attenuate the progressive cell death seen in PINK1-KO rats. This model presents a unique opportunity to target progressive loss of DAergic neurons, test the therapeutic efficacy of KD-driven improvements in mitochondrial function, and measure the KD's impact on Parkinsonian motor deficits. Behavioral data on gait alterations of the animals was recorded using the DigiGait motorized treadmill system. Staining for tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) will be conducted on nigral tissue to assess DAergic cell death. A reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system will be used to quantify purine levels in 7 discrete brain regions. Blood testing for glucose and  $\beta$ HB will be used to establish each animal's level of ketosis. It was hypothesized that the KD would enhance mitochondrial energy metabolism such that an attenuation in DAergic cell death would be observed in the KD-fed PINK1-KO rats. It was expected that PINK1-KO rats on the normal diet (ND) would exhibit increased gait abnormalities compared to KD-fed PINK1-KO rats, and in control rats fed either diet.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Chemicals

Adenosine, guanosine, inosine, xanthine, hypoxanthine, guanine, uric acid, sodium chloride, potassium phosphate monobasic, and sodium 1-pentane sulfonate were acquired from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Potassium phosphate monobasic, HPLC-grade acetonitrile, and 85% phosphoric acid were acquired from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA). Potassium chloride, and sodium phosphate dibasic heptahydrate were acquired from J.T. Baker Analytical (Center Valley, PA, USA).

# **Animal Handling and Diet Administration**

All animal care, use, and surgical procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care, the Use Committee of Trinity College, and are in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. A total of 24 PINK1 +/+ and -/- rats from SAGE Laboratories (St. Louis, MO, USA) were housed in pairs in plastic cages with stainless steel tops and were exposed to a standard 12hr light: 12hr dark cycle. Temperature and humidity were kept constant electronically and food and water were provided *ad libitum*, KD was changed daily. All animals received the control diet until 3 months of age at which point KD and control groups were established. The KD used was the AIN-76A Modified diet which is 8.6% protein, 75.1% fat, 3.2% carbohydrate and contains added mineral and vitamin mixes (BioServ, Flemington, NJ, USA). Rats were given a 5-day acclimation period upon arrival before they were weighed for the first time. Weight gain was continuously monitored every 2 weeks. Once during each of the 3 months prior to sacrifice, blood levels of **β**HB and glucose were tested using ketone and glucose test strips and digital meters (Abbott Inc., Alameda, CA,

USA). At 8 months old animals were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane (Henry Schein Animal Health, Dublin, OH, USA) before and during sacrifices. Animals were perfused using 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution (for details see appendix A). The brain of each animal was rapidly harvested and stored in a solution of dry ice and ethanol until tissue was processed approximately 1 hour after sacrifice.

### **DigiGait Behavioral Analysis**

Animals undergoing gait analysis were put on a motorized treadmill tilted at a 13° angle and walked downhill at a speed of 18 cm/s. Video footage was recorded from beneath the treadmill and the area of advancing and retreating paws was analyzed using the DigiGait software. These data were used to evaluate balance, coordination, and gait abnormalities.

## **Tissue Processing**

Brains were sectioned on a Leica SM 2000 R Microtome stage controlled by a Physitemp BFS-3TC temperature regulator set to -20°C (Physitemp Instruments, Clifton, NJ). Brain slices were taken coronally at 1.5mm thickness and bilateral tissue punches were taken from the following regions: motor cortex (MC), somatosensory cortex (SC), nucleus accumbens (NA), anterior caudate (AC), posterior caudate (PC), hippocampus (HC), and substantia nigra (SN) (Fig 3). See appendix B for detailed procedures and protocols.



**Fig. 3** The above figure depicts the slices and punch site locations of the following brain regions: motor cortex (MC), somatosensory cortex (SC), nucleus accumbens (NA), anterior caudate (AC), posterior caudate (PC), hippocampus (HC), and substantia nigra (SN).

Rat brain regions were identified using a rat stereotaxic atlas (Pellegrino et al., 1979). Tissue punches were transferred to labeled microcentrifuge tubes containing 400 $\mu$ L ethanol and sonicated using the Tekmar Sonic Disruptor. Samples were centrifuged for 30 min at 12,400 rpm using the Fisher Scientific Microcentrifuge 235c at 4°C. Supernatants were transferred to separate microcentrifuge tubes and rotovapped at 45°C for 30 min. The amount of protein in each tissue punch was evaluated using standard Modified Lowry Protein Assay protocol from the protein pellets left in the original centrifuge tubes. Neurotransmitter pellets were resuspended in 1mL of DiH<sub>2</sub>O and 7 $\mu$ L of an 8 $\mu$ g/L DHBA solution was added as an internal standard. Fully processed samples were stored at -80°C until analyzed by HPLC.

# **HPLC Analysis**

Purines were quantified using a modified version of a previously described method (Burdett et al., 2013). Two mobile phases were used for reverse-phase HPLC analysis. Mobile phase A (MP-A) contained 0.52 mM sodium 1-pentane sulfonate, 0.20 M potassium phosphate monobasic and was pH adjusted to 3.5 using 85% phosphoric acid (Baker Analyzed; Phillipsburg, NJ, USA). Mobile phase B (MP-B) contained identical concentrations as MP-A plus an addition of 10% acetonitrile (HPLC-Grade, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

The gradient parameters were as follows: 0-6 min of 100% MP-A, 6-15.5 min ramp to 45% A - 55% B (Fig 4). This gradient was held until 20 min and was followed by a 15 min equilibration period during which the system was rinsed with 100% MP-A before the next injection was made (Fig 4).



**Fig. 4** The figure above is a graphical representation of the mobile phase (MP) gradient parameters used for reversephase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis of purine levels. Mobile phase A (MP-A) was a 0.52 mM sodium 1-pentane sulfonate, 0.20 M potassium phosphate monobasic solution and was pH adjusted to 3.5 using 85% phosphoric acid. Mobile phase B (MP-B) was created from MP-A but was 10% acetonitrile.

A Hitachi L 2130 HPLC pump was used at a flow rate of 0.7mL/min and separation was carried out at 22°C on a 150 x 3.00mm LUNA  $5\mu$ m C18 analytical column (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA). A sample volume of  $100\mu$ L was manually injected into the HPLC system. Dual electrochemical detection (ESA Coulochem III; E<sub>1</sub> = -0.15V; E<sub>2</sub> = +0.70V; Thermo Scientific, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) and UV detection ( $\lambda_1$  = 254nm; BioAnalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN, USA) were used to quantify purine levels. Chromatographic data was collected, stored, and analyzed using EZ Chrom chromatography software (Thermo Scientific).

# **TH-Staining**

The Vectastain® ABC Kit (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA, USA), and anti-TH antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA) were used for immunohistochemical staining (for details see appendix C).

# **Protein Assays**

Protein assays were conducted using the standard Modified Lowry Protein assay method (for details see appendix C).

## **Data Collection, Quantification, and Analysis**

Calibration standards were run prior to brain sample injections and a standard calibration curve was used to quantify purine levels in the brain regions of interest. Data was compiled using Excel files and statistically analyzed using GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Statistical significance between groups was determined by two-way ANOVA with post-hoc comparisons.

# **Experimental Groups**

A total of 24 Long-Evans Hooded rats, 12 wild-type (WT) and 12 PINK1-KO (KO), were included in the study. Animals arrived in groups of 4, 2 WT and 2 KO, on a monthly basis and were assigned letters A-X for identification. 4 study groups of 6 animals each were established as follows: WT fed a normal diet (WT/ND), WT fed a ketogenic diet (WT/KD), KO fed a normal diet (KO/ND), and KO fed a ketogenic diet (KO/KD). One animal from the KO/KD group died prematurely due to an unforeseen hypersensitivity to isoflurane anesthetic administered when trimming toenails prior to DigiGait behavioral testing. The use of isoflurane for toenail trimming was discontinued immediately and no other animals were lost prematurely for any reason.

Brains from one animal from each study group, 4 brains total, were sent to the University of Hartford in order to conduct TH-staining of the SN to assess DAergic cell death.

A gravity-driven perfusion apparatus was used during surgical dissection of animals. Initially, an 8L container was filled with 1x PBS and placed on a shelf approximately 2 feet above animals during dissection. Animals 'C' and 'D', from the KO/ND group, were not successfully perfused and cerebral blood could be observed following dissection. Furthermore, lesions were observed in the following animals: D, F, H, I, L, and K. Animals D, F, and H exhibited either asymmetrically enlarged or exploded ventricles which were attributed to the excessive flow rate of the gravity-driven perfusion apparatus. Rats I-X did not show asymmetrically enlarged or exploded ventricles, likely due to the decrease in volume of 1x PBS in the perfusion container after perfusions were conducted for rats A-H. Available images of the observed lesions can be found in appendix D. Final calculations of purine levels in rats A-H in all brain regions were, in most cases, more that 250% higher than those in rats I-X. This

disparity is likely due to perfusion-induced dispersion of purines away from their regions of origin and, as such, data from animals A-H were excluded from neurochemical analysis. At this point each study group consisted of 3 animals.

Finally, two samples for neurochemical analysis by HPLC were inadvertently lost during the tissue sample preparation process. The posterior caudate tissue from animal 'R' came loose in the microcentrifuge. Tissue from the substantia nigra of rat 'V' was not collected after excessive slicing of brain tissue caused the region to be missed entirely.

# RESULTS

# Chronic KD does not prevent weight gain

A 5-month chronic KD did not prevent weight gain in either the WT or KO animals (Fig 5). Unpaired t-tests showed no significant differences (for all comparisons p>0.05) in starting weight between any of the study groups (WT/ND:  $334g \pm 11.88$ , n = 6; WT/KD:  $374g \pm 25.19$ , n = 6, t = 1.57; KO/ND:  $366g \pm 9.39$ , n = 6, t = 3.32; KO/KD:  $362g \pm 11.75$ , n = 5, t = 2.36). Unpaired t-tests also showed no significant differences in final weight between any of the study groups (WT/ND:  $518g \pm 21.55$ , n = 6; WT/KD:  $593g \pm 48.20$ , n = 6, t = 1.55; KO/ND:  $575g \pm 15.60$ , n = 6, t = 3.65; KO/KD:  $536g \pm 54.62$ , n = 5, t = 0.34). Furthermore, after 5 months on the KD, both WT and KO animals were overtly indistinguishable from normal diet-fed animals.



**Fig. 5** Chronic KD does not prevent weight gain in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). **A**) KO/KD animals (n = 5) **B**) KO/ND animals (n = 6) **C**) WT/KD animals (n = 6) **D**) or WT/ND animals (n = 6).

#### KD alters βHB but not glucose levels

Animal age at the time of blood tests did not have any affect on the results of either  $\beta$ HB or glucose testing (F = 0.51, DFn = 2, p>0.05 and F = 1.30, DFn = 2, p>0.05, respectively). Data from all three months were then combined to compare the effect of the KD on blood  $\beta$ HB and glucose levels. As seen in figure 6, animals fed the KD showed increased blood  $\beta$ HB levels when compared to animals fed a normal diet. WT animals on the KD showed an increase of 157% over WT animals on the normal diet (0.94 mmol/L ± 0.05, n = 15 vs. 0.60 mmol/L ± 0.04, n = 13, p<0.05). PINK1-KO animals fed a KD showed an increase of 167% in blood  $\beta$ HB when

compared to KO animals on the normal diet (0.97 mmol/L  $\pm$  0.06, n = 12 vs. 0.58 mmol/L  $\pm$  0.05, n = 13, p<0.01). Blood glucose levels were not affected by the KD (Fig 7).



**Fig. 6** Blood beta-hydroxybutyrate ( $\beta$ HB) levels in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). The WT/KD group had significantly higher  $\beta$ HB than WT/ND (\* p<0.05). KO/KD animals had significantly higher  $\beta$ HB than KO/ND groups (\*\* p<0.01). Data from months 6, 7, and 8 were combined and compared by study group (n = 12-15 data points per group).



**Fig. 7** Blood glucose levels in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). No significant differences were seen between any of the experimental groups. Data from months 6, 7, and 8 were combined and compared by study group (n = 12-15 data points per group).

#### **KD** increases stride length and decreases stride frequency

At 3 months of age there was no statistically significant difference in stride length or stride frequency between any of the experimental groups (Fig 8a and 10a). At 8 months, KO animals on the normal diet showed significantly shorter stride length than WT animals on the normal diet (8.33 cm  $\pm$  0.05, n = 6 vs. 10.55 cm  $\pm$  0.05, n = 2, p<0.05) and WTs on the KD (12.21 cm  $\pm$  0.40, n = 8, p<0.01; Fig 8b). Interestingly, KD-fed wild type animals had longer stride length than normal diet-fed WTs (12.21 cm  $\pm$  0.40, n = 8 vs. 10.55 cm  $\pm$  0.05, n = 2, p<0.01) at 8 months. Figure 9 shows that the stride length of the KO/ND animals gradually decreased over time, ultimately showing a 16.5% decrease from 3 month values, whereas all other groups remained equal to or greater than their respective 3 month values.

No significant differences in stride frequency were seen between any of the groups at 3 months (Fig 10a). However, at 8 months KO animals fed a normal diet showed a significant increase in stride frequency (2.18 steps/s  $\pm$  0.17, n = 6) compared to WT animals fed a normal

diet (1.7 steps/s  $\pm$  0.0, n = 2, p<0.05) or KD (1.49 steps/s  $\pm$  0.05, n = 8, p<0.01; Fig 10b). KDfed WT animals showed significantly lower stride frequency than normal diet-fed WTs (1.49 steps/s  $\pm$  0.05, n = 2, p<0.01). Overtime, stride frequency of the KO animals fed a normal diet increased by 18% over the 3 month value (Fig 11).



**Fig. 8** Effects of the ketogenic diet (KD) on stride length in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or KD. **A**) 3 months **B**) and 8 months. KO/ND animals showed a significant reduction in stride length at 8 months compared to WT animals on the ND (\* p<0.05). WT/KD animals had significantly higher stride length than KO/ND animals at 8 months (\*\* p<0.01). For all experimental groups n = 2-4.



**Fig. 9** Changes in stride length in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). KO/ND animals showed a decrease in stride length at 8 months compared to 3 months. KO/KD animals showed a similar stride length at 3 and 8 months. For all experimental groups n = 2-4.



**Fig. 10** Effects of the ketogenic diet (KD) on stride frequency in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or KD. **A**) 3 months **B**) and 8 months. KO/ND animals showed a significant increase in stride frequency at 8 months compared to WT animals fed a ND (\* p<0.05). WT/KD animals had significantly lower stride frequency than the WT/ND group at 8 months (\*\* p<0.01). For all experimental groups n = 2-4.



**Fig. 11** Changes in stride frequency between 3 and 8 months in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). Stride frequency of KO/ND animals increased at 8 months compared to 3 months. KO/KD animals showed a similar stride frequency at 3 and 8 months. For all experimental groups n = 2-4.

## KD changes purine neurochemistry

The KD selectively reduced adenosine and inosine levels in the brains of both WT and KO animals (Fig 12 and 13). In the nucleus accumbens, adenosine was 57% lower in KD-fed animals compared to WT animals fed a normal diet (WT/KD:  $0.94 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.20$ , n = 3; KO/KD:  $0.94 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.17$ , n = 3 vs. WT/ND:  $2.18 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.29$ , n = 3, p<0.05; Fig 12a). In the posterior caudate adenosine was 60% lower in the KD-fed WTs and 57% lower in the KD-fed KOs compared to normal diet-fed WT animals (WT/KD:  $0.99 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.31$ , n = 3; KO/KD:  $1.04 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.10$ , n = 3 vs. WT/ND:  $2.45 \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.42$ , n = 2, p<0.01 and p<0.05; Fig 12b).

Inosine, a metabolite of adenosine, was non-significantly reduced in the nucleus accumbens of KD-fed WT animals and significantly reduced in the KD-fed KOs compared to the normal diet-fed WT animals (KO/KD:  $0.42 \ \mu g/mg$  protein  $\pm 0.02$ , n = 3 vs. WT/ND:  $0.81 \ \mu g/mg$ 

protein ± 0.04, n = 3, p<0.05; Fig 13a). In the hippocampus, KD-fed WT and KD-fed KO animals had significantly lower inosine levels (42% and 43%, respectively) than those of KOs fed a normal diet (WT/KD: 0.60  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± 0.10, n = 3; KO/KD: 0.59  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± 0.11, n = 3 vs. KO/ND: 1.03  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± 0.23, n = 3, p<0.05; Fig 13b). Finally, in the substantia nigra, KD-fed KOs showed significantly less inosine (36%) than normal diet-fed WT animals (KO/KD: 0.74  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± 0.15, n = 3 vs. WT/ND: 1.16  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± 0.15, n = 3, p<0.05; Fig 13c).



**Fig. 12** Adenosine levels in in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD) **A**) nucleus accumbens **B**) and the posterior caudate. Both KD-fed groups showed significantly lower adenosine levels in the nucleus accumbens (**A**) compared to the WT/ND group (# p<0.05). The WT/KD and KO/KD groups also showed significantly lower adenosine levels in the posterior caudate (**B**) compared to WT/ND animals (# p<0.01 and # p<0.05, respectively). For all study groups n = 2-3.



**Fig. 13** Inosine levels in wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animals fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). **A**) nucleus accumbens **B**) hippocampus **C**) and the substantia nigra. KO/KD animals showed significantly lower inosine levels than WT/ND animals in both the nucleus accumbens (**A**) and substantia nigra (**C**) (# p<0.05). KD-fed WT and KO animals showed significantly less inosine in the hippocampus (**B**) than KO/ND animals (# p<0.05). For all study groups n = 2-3.

# KD appears to protect nigral dopamine cells

Immunohistochemical staining for TH-positive cells in the SN revealed that a KO animal fed a normal diet had noticeably fewer dopamine cells than a WT animal fed the KD (Fig 14). The KD appeared to prevent this nigral TH-positive cell loss in KO animals.



**Fig. 14** Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive cells in the substantia nigra of a wild-type (WT) and knock-out (KO) animal fed a normal diet (ND) or ketogenic diet (KD). A KO animal fed the ND had observably less TH-positive cells in the substantia nigra than either KD-fed animals. For all groups n = 1.
### DISCUSSION

### Chronic KD does not prevent weight gain

The present study found that rats fed the KD for 5 months gained weight similarly to rats fed a normal diet. Several interesting differences between the weights of KD- and ND-fed animals were observed. Weight gain plots of KD-fed animals were more spread out than those of ND-fed animals. At the end of the 5-month diet, the final weights of KO/KD and WT/KD animals had standard deviations of 122g and 118g compared to 38g and 52g in KO/ND and WT/ND, respectively. Taken together, these data suggest that there may be greater weight-gain variability in KD-fed animals than in ND-fed animals.

A large number of studies on the effects of prolonged KD in animal models have examined KD regimens persisting for up to 11 weeks (DeVivo et al., 1978; Al-Mudallal et al., 1995, 1996; Hori et al., 1997; Cheng et al., 2009; Ruskin et al., 2013; Church et al., 2014). Administration of a KD for 20 days in Sprague-Dawley rats did not result in as much variance as we observed following a 5-month KD (DeVivo et al., 1978). Greater weight gain in KD-fed animals compared to control-fed animals has been reported after a slightly longer (5 week) KD regimen, although this difference was not statistically significant (Hori et al., 1997). Interesting results from a 5-6 week KD study, which used slightly higher protein content (10.4%) than the present study, described that animals were restricted to 10g of the diet per day in order to avoid excessive weight gain (Al-Mudallal et al., 1996). In comparison, our KD was only 8.6% protein and while the KD patties provided to our animals were observably equivalent in size they were not weighed. During daily replacement of KD patties, complete consumption of the previous day's patty was never observed.

#### KD alters βHB but not glucose levels

Since animals on the KD were not provided any external sources of carbohydrates, tolerated the diet, and gained weight it was deduced that they were converting fatty acids to ketone bodies to serve as their primary energy substrate.  $\beta$ HB and glucose blood levels were measured as an indicator of the conversion to ketosis. KD-fed KO animals had significantly higher blood  $\beta$ HB levels than their ND-fed counterparts. Interestingly, no significant differences in blood glucose levels were seen between either genotype or diet group. Other research reports elevated blood and cerebral **BHB** levels in KD-fed versus control-fed animals with no change in blood or cerebral glucose levels (Al-Mudallal et al., 1995). Under normal conditions, rat blood **\betaHB** levels have been reported to be between 0.20 - 0.30 mmol/L and glucose levels are between 4.00 - 12.17 mmol/L (Leino et al., 2001; Veech, 2004; Paoli et al., 2011). At 8 months of age, normal diet-fed WT animals had mean  $\beta$ HB and glucose levels of 0.60 and 4.86 mmol/L, respectively. KO animals fed the normal diet showed similar  $\beta$ HB levels (0.58 mmol/L) but slightly higher blood glucose levels (6.07 mmol/L) at 8 months. While  $\beta$ HB levels in our normal diet fed animals appear to be slightly higher than previous reports, blood glucose levels were well within the range reported by previous studies. After a 35-day KD, Leino et al. (2001) reported that rat plasma  $\beta$ HB and glucose levels were 1.0 and 11.5 mmol/L, respectively. In comparison, our KD-fed WT and KO animals had  $\beta$ HB levels of 0.94 and 0.97 mmol/L and glucose levels of 6.46 and 6.08 mmol/L, respectively. While  $\beta$ HB levels reported in the current study are nearly identical to previous reports, glucose levels in KD-fed animals are much lower. This could be a result of a shift in energy substrate from glucose to ketone bodies but, since blood data was only collected during the final three months and no initial level prior to KD administration was established no firm conclusion could be drawn regarding a change in energy

37

substrate. Still, the fact that no significant differences in blood glucose levels were observed between KD- and ND-fed groups suggests that perhaps a 5-month KD provides animals with ample time to compensate for the KD-induced glucose shortage. Indeed, it has been reported that glucose levels in KD-fed animals do not significantly differ from pre-diet levels after a 1month KD regimen (Leino et al., 2001).

The neuroprotective properties of  $\beta$ HB are well established in Parkinsonian models. In an MPTP mouse model of PD, infusion of  $\beta$ HB protected against both the degeneration of DAergic neurons and the motor deficits associated with the MPTP toxin (Tieu et al., 2003).  $\beta$ HB has also been found to reduce the production of free radicals that induce lipid peroxidation of cell membrane and cause cell death (Maalouf et al., 2007).

Reports suggest that between 50% and 80% of Parkinson's patients have an atypical glucose tolerance (Lipman et al., 1974; Sandyk, 1993). This impaired glucose intolerance is a hyperglycemic state which often precedes diabetes. Furthermore, many of these glucose intolerant patients with PD fulfill criteria for diabetes (Lipman et al., 1974). Glucose consumption leads to insulin secretion and catecholamines have been suggested as modulators of this process (Buse et al., 1970). This glucose intolerance is made worse by L-DOPA therapies and it has been proposed that diabetes in Parkinson's disease may increase the severity if motor dysfunction (Sandyk, 1993). Individuals with glucose intolerance can exhibit fasting glucose levels that can be slightly elevated which may explain the slightly higher levels levels observed in our KD-fed animals compared to those fed the normal diet (American Diabetes Association, 2005).

## KD increases stride length and decreases stride frequency

In humans, PD progression is associated with a decrease in stride length and shuffling gait (Morris et al., 1994). While patients are often able to compensate for these changes when walking at a pace of their selection, gait hypokinesia becomes apparent when walking speed is kept constant (Morris et al., 1994). Our data on PINK1-KO-induced gait changes align with these findings in humans as stride length in KO/ND animals was over 20% shorter than WT/ND animals at 8 months. In contrast, KO/KD animals were observed to have a mean stride length that was only 6% shorter than WT/ND animals. Interestingly, WT animals fed the KD exhibited a 16% increase in stride length between 3 and 8 months. Research examining the effects of the KD on the R6/2 1J mouse model of Huntington's disease, which found evidence of KD-induced improvements in locomotor coordination in male mice (Ruskin et al., 2011). Our results indicate that KD-fed KO animals had similar stride length at both 3 and 8 months while KO animals fed the normal diet exhibited a steady decrease in stride length representing a loss of 16.5% over the course of the experiment.

In parallel with a decrease in stride length, KO/ND animals showed a significant increase in stride frequency at 8 months of age compared to WT/ND animals at the same time point. This change in KO/ND animals amounted to a 15% increase over time, whereas KO/KD animals exhibited nearly identical stride frequency at both 3 and 8 months. WT/KD animals exhibited a 15% reduction in stride frequency between 3 and 8 months of age. As one might expect, the relationship between stride length and stride frequency is approximately inversely proportional. Taken together these results suggest a KD-induced attenuation of PINK1-KO-induced motor deficits. Hind limb dragging has been reported in 30% of PINK1-KO rats (Dave et al., 2014).

Three of the 12 KO animals in the current study were observed to exhibit hind limb dragging, a 25% prevalence rate. All three of these animals were fed the ND which may suggest that the KD prevented the development of this impairment. The DigiGait video footage captured hind limb dragging from below these animals while they walked and allowed for interesting observations to be made. In all three hind limb draggers an equinovarus-like folding of the toes under the pad of the dragged paw was observed. The current study is the first to report this feature of the hind limb dragging in PINK1-KO animals. Our initial results suggest that the KD prevented the development of Parkinson's-like gait changes in PINK1-KO animals.

#### KD changes purine neurochemistry

The KD is well known for its anti-epileptic effects (Hori et al., 1997; Dahlin et al., 2005, 2012; Baranano and Hartman, 2008; Masino et al., 2012). It has been suggested that a KD-induced increase in extracellular adenosine acts on A<sub>1</sub> receptors which reduce neuronal excitability (Masino and Geiger, 2008; Masino et al., 2011, 2012). Furthermore, adenosine is well-known for its modulatory influence over dopaminergic transmission in the basal ganglia via  $A_{2A}$  receptors (Hettinger et al., 2001; Rebola et al., 2005; Morelli et al., 2010, 2012). Antagonism of  $A_{2A}$  receptors on nigrostriatal DAergic neurons leads to an augmentation of inhibitory GABAergic activity, enhanced regulation of thalamocortical-facilitated motor function, and makes smooth motor movements possible (Ochi et al., 2000; Hauser RA and Schwarzschild MA, 2005). In light of the modulatory role of adenosinergic  $A_{2A}$  receptors on DAergic transmission and smooth motor movement, research has focused on targeting  $A_{2A}$  receptors for potential therapeutic applications in PD (Pinna et al., 1996, 2001, 2016; Fenu et al.,

1997; Koga et al., 2000; Strömberg et al., 2000b). This extensive support of  $A_{2A}$  receptor antagonism in PD contributed to the recent approval of istradefylline, an  $A_{2A}$  antagonist, as an additional therapy for PD (Kondo and Mizuno, 2015).

In the current study, a 5-month KD appeared to have a depressive effect on purine levels in both KO and WT animals. In the nucleus accumbens adenosine levels fell by 57% in both WT and KO animals fed a KD compared to WT animals fed a normal diet. In comparison KO/ND animals exhibited only a 30% decrease in adenosine in the nucleus accumbens compared to WT/ND animals. Additionally, adenosine was lower in the posterior caudate of KD-fed WT and KO animals by 60% and 58%, respectively, compared to WT/ND animals; a 26% decrease was observed in KO/ND animals. A similar trend was seen with inosine, a downstream metabolite of adenosine. In the nucleus accumbens KD-fed WT and KO animals had 46% and 48% less inosine, respectively, than WT/ND animals while KO/ND animals showed only a 30% decrease. In the hippocampus KO/ND animals showed a 19% increase in inosine compared to WT/ND animals while KD-fed WT and KO animals were observed to have decreases of 28% and 29%, respectively. The substantia nigra also showed a depression of inosine levels by 36% in both KD-fed groups and 15% in KO animals fed a normal diet. One potential explanation for these decreases could be that, due to the prolonged length of the diet, compensatory mechanisms become hyperactive and reduce purine levels.

Precise quantification of purines in the brain is very difficult because even the slightest ischemic event can lead to rapid degradation of ATP and subsequent increase in adenosine levels (Delaney and Geiger, 1996). In order to obtain precise cerebral purine levels it is important to inactivate the enzymes involved in the purine metabolic pathway. One such method uses high-energy focused microwave systems which not only kill experimental animals but simultaneously

41

denature proteins and halt enzyme function (Delaney and Geiger, 1996). This microwave method has been compared to more traditional decapitation methods and found significant differences in adenosine content in regions evaluated in the present study (Delaney and Geiger, 1996). Using 10kW microwave irradiation adenosine levels in the cortex, striatum, and hippocampus were between 50 and 75 times lower than those of animals sacrificed using decapitation. In comparison, adenosine levels in the cortex of animals sacrificed by decapitation were  $0.022 \mu g/mg$  protein versus  $3.46 \mu g/mg$  protein (combined motor and somatosensory cortex values) detected in our study. Our adenosine levels may be higher due to the perfusion procedure conducted on all animals prior to decapitation. Clearance of blood in the brain creates the kind of ischemic environment which leads to massive increases in adenosine up to 100-fold (Chu et al., 2013).

## KD appears to protect nigral dopamine cells

Immunohistochemical staining for DA cells in the SN showed that a KD-fed KO animal had nearly 150% more DA neurons than a KO animal fed a normal diet. Previous studies have also reported the KD's protection of nigral DAergic neurons in toxin-induced models of PD (Cheng et al., 2009; Yang and Cheng, 2010). Studies evaluating the PINK1-KO confirm that KO animals do, in fact, exhibit nigral DA cell depletion (Dave et al., 2014; Villeneuve et al., 2014). Due to our small sample size, only one animal from each study group was stained for TH-positive cells and, as such, the present findings require additional animals to determine the statistical power of the observed effects. Still, cell counts from representative images of three of the four study groups (WT/ND group not shown due to technical difficulties in staining

procedure) suggest that the KD is able to prevent DAergic cell death in the PINK1-KO model of PD.

## **Methodological Considerations**

As discussed previously (see methods), unforeseen errors in the perfusion of 8 animals led to removal of 3 rats from each group for purine quantification by HPLC. Additionally, the method of sacrifice likely resulted in inflated adenosine levels. In the event of a follow-up study the following recommendations are proposed:

- That a pressure-driven, rather than gravity-driven perfusion apparatus be used to perfuse cerebral vasculature
- Animals from each study group be sacrificed using microwave irradiation, rather than perfusion and decapitation, for quantification of purines by HPLC
- That a greater number of animals be included in the study

## Conclusions

This study reports that a 5-month KD exhibits therapeutic potential to ameliorate gait changes and DAergic cell death induced by the PINK1-KO. Furthermore, neurochemical analysis suggests that a prolonged KD may have a depressive effect on purines in discreet regions of the striatum, basal ganglia, and the hippocampus. The findings of the current thesis provide initial evidence of the beneficial effects of the KD in the PINK1-KO model of PD and are deserving of a follow-up study with a larger sample size to reaffirm these promising results.

## REFERENCES

- Ahlskog JE, Muenter MD (2001) Frequency of levodopa-related dyskinesias and motor fluctuations as estimated from the cumulative literature. Mov Disord Off J Mov Disord Soc 16:448–458.
- Al-Mudallal AS, LaManna JC, Lust WD, Harik SI (1996) Diet-induced ketosis does not cause cerebral acidosis. Epilepsia 37:258–261.
- Al-Mudallal AS, Levin BE, Lust WD, Harik SI (1995) Effects of unbalanced diets on cerebral glucose metabolism in the adult rat. Neurology 45:2261–2265.
- American Diabetes Association (2005) Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 28 Suppl 1:S37–S42.
- Baranano KW, Hartman AL (2008) The Ketogenic Diet: Uses in Epilepsy and Other Neurologic Illnesses. Curr Treat Options Neurol 10:410–419.
- Beckstead RM, Domesick VB, Nauta WJH (1979) Efferent connections of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area in the rat. Brain Res 175:191–217.
- Bough KJ, Wetherington J, Hassel B, Pare JF, Gawryluk JW, Greene JG, Shaw R, Smith Y, Geiger JD, Dingledine RJ (2006) Mitochondrial biogenesis in the anticonvulsant mechanism of the ketogenic diet. Ann Neurol 60:223–235.
- Bové J, Prou D, Perier C, Przedborski S (2005) Toxin-Induced Models of Parkinson's Disease. NeuroRx 2:484–494.
- Bozzi Y, Borrelli E (2013) The role of dopamine signaling in epileptogenesis. Front Cell Neurosci 7 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3774988/ [Accessed August 10, 2015].
- Burdett TC, Desjardins CA, Logan R, McFarland NR, Chen X, Schwarzschild MA (2013) Efficient determination of purine metabolites in brain tissue and serum by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrochemical and UV detection. Biomed Chromatogr 27:122–129.
- Buse MG, Johnson AH, Kuperminc D, Buse J (1970) Effect of α-adrenergic blockade on insulin secretion in man. Metabolism 19:219–225.
- Cheng B, Yang X, An L, Gao B, Liu X, Liu S (2009) Ketogenic diet protects dopaminergic neurons against 6-OHDA neurotoxicity via up-regulating glutathione in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Brain Res 1286:25–31.

- Church WH, Adams RE, Wyss LS (2014) Ketogenic diet alters dopaminergic activity in the mouse cortex. Neurosci Lett 571:1–4.
- Church WH, Sabol KE, Justice Jr. JB, Neill DB (1986) Striatal dopamine activity and unilateral barpressing in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 25:865–871.
- Church WH, Ward VL (1994) Uric acid is reduced in the substantia nigra in parkinson's disease: Effect on dopamine oxidation. Brain Res Bull 33:419–425.
- Chu S, Xiong W, Zhang D, Soylu H, Sun C, Albensi BC, Parkinson FE (2013) Regulation of adenosine levels during cerebral ischemia. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34:60–66.
- Cipriani S, Chen X, Schwarzschild MA (2010) Urate: a novel biomarker of Parkinson's disease risk, diagnosis and prognosis. Biomark Med 4:701–712.
- Dahlin M, Elfving Å, Ungerstedt U, Åmark P (2005) The ketogenic diet influences the levels of excitatory and inhibitory amino acids in the CSF in children with refractory epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 64:115–125.
- Dahlin M, Månsson J-E, Åmark P (2012) CSF levels of dopamine and serotonin, but not norepinephrine, metabolites are influenced by the ketogenic diet in children with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 99:132–138.
- Dauer W, Przedborski S (2003) Parkinson's Disease: Mechanisms and Models. Neuron 39:889–909.
- Dave KD et al. (2014) Phenotypic characterization of recessive gene knockout rat models of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis 70:190–203.
- Delaney SM, Geiger JD (1996) Brain regional levels of adenosine and adenosine nucleotides in rats killed by high-energy focused microwave irradiation. J Neurosci Methods 64:151–156.
- De Sarro G, De Sarro A, Di Paola ED, Bertorelli R (1999) Effects of adenosine receptor agonists and antagonists on audiogenic seizure-sensible DBA/2 mice. Eur J Pharmacol 371:137–145.
- Desole MS, Esposito G, Fresu L, Migheli R, Sircana S, Delogu R, Miele M, Miele E (1996) Further investigation of allopurinol effects on MPTP-induced oxidative stress in the striatum and brain stem of the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:377–383.
- DeVivo DC, Leckie MP, Ferrendelli JS, McDougal DB (1978) Chronic ketosis and cerebral metabolism. Ann Neurol 3:331–337.
- Dixon AK, Gubitz AK, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Richardson PJ, Freeman TC (1996) Tissue distribution of adenosine receptor mRNAs in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 118:1461–1468.

- Dorsey ER, Constantinescu R, Thompson JP, Biglan KM, Holloway RG, Kieburtz K, Marshall FJ, Ravina BM, Schifitto G, Siderowf A, Tanner CM (2007) Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. Neurology 68:384–386.
- Fedele DE, Gouder N, Güttinger M, Gabernet L, Scheurer L, Rülicke T, Crestani F, Boison D (2005) Astrogliosis in epilepsy leads to overexpression of adenosine kinase, resulting in seizure aggravation. Brain 128:2383–2395.
- Fedele DE, Li T, Lan JQ, Fredholm BB, Boison D (2006) Adenosine A1 receptors are crucial in keeping an epileptic focus localized. Exp Neurol 200:184–190.
- Fenu S, Pinna A, Ongini E, Morelli M (1997) Adenosine A2A receptor antagonism potentiates L-DOPA-induced turning behaviour and c-fos expression in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats. Eur J Pharmacol 321:143–147.
- Ferré S, Herrera-Marschitz M, Grabowska-Andén M, Ungerstedt U, Casas M, Andén N-E (1991) Postsynaptic dopamine/adenosine interaction: I. Adenosine analogues inhibit dopamine D2-mediated behaviour in short-term reserpinized mice. Eur J Pharmacol 192:25–30.
- Ferre S, von Euler G, Johansson B, Fredholm BB, Fuxe K (1991) Stimulation of high-affinity adenosine A2 receptors decreases the affinity of dopamine D2 receptors in rat striatal membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:7238–7241.
- Freeman JM, Vining EPG (1998) The Efficacy of the Ketogenic Diet--1998: A Prospective Evaluation of Intervention in 150 Children. Pediatrics 102:1358.
- Fuxe K, Ferré S, Genedani S, Franco R, Agnati LF (2007) Adenosine receptor–dopamine receptor interactions in the basal ganglia and their relevance for brain function. Physiol Behav 92:210–217.
- Fuxe K, Ungerstedt U (1974) Action of caffeine and theophyllamine on supersensitive dopamine receptors. Med Biol 52:48–54.
- Fuzzati-Armentero M-T, Cerri S, Levandis G, Ambrosi G, Montepeloso E, Antoninetti G, Blandini F, Baqi Y, Müller CE, Volpini R, Costa G, Simola N, Pinna A (2015) Dual target strategy: combining distinct non-dopaminergic treatments reduces neuronal cell loss and synergistically modulates l-DOPA-induced rotational behavior in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 134:740–747.
- Gao X, O'Reilly ÉJ, Schwarzschild MA, Ascherio A (2016) Prospective study of plasma urate and risk of Parkinson disease in men and women. Neurology:10.1212/WNL.00000000002351.
- Ginés S, Hillion J, Torvinen M, Le Crom S, Casadó V, Canela EI, Rondin S, Lew JY, Watson S, Zoli M, Agnati LF, Vernier P, Lluis C, Ferré S, Fuxe K, Franco R (2000) Dopamine D1

and adenosine A1 receptors form functionally interacting heteromeric complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:8606–8611.

- Giuliani P, Ballerini P, Buccella S, Ciccarelli R, Rathbone MP, Romano S, D'Alimonte I, Caciagli F, Iorio PD, Pokorski M (2014) Guanosine Protects Glial Cells Against 6-Hydroxydopamine Toxicity. In: Neurotransmitter Interactions and Cognitive Function (Pokorski M, ed), pp 23–33 Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Springer International Publishing. Available at: http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/5584\_2014\_73 [Accessed February 3, 2016].
- Graham DG (1978) Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones. Mol Pharmacol 14:633–643.
- Greene RW (2011) Adenosine: front and center in linking nutrition and metabolism to neuronal activity. J Clin Invest 121:2548–2550.
- Hanrott K, Gudmunsen L, O'Neill MJ, Wonnacott S (2006) 6-Hydroxydopamine-induced Apoptosis Is Mediated via Extracellular Auto-oxidation and Caspase 3-dependent Activation of Protein Kinase Cδ. J Biol Chem 281:5373–5382.
- Hartman AL, Gasior M, Vining EPG, Rogawski MA (2007) The Neuropharmacology of the Ketogenic Diet. Pediatr Neurol 36:281–292.
- Hartmann A, Michel PP, Troadec J-D, Mouatt-Prigent A, Faucheux BA, Ruberg M, Agid Y, Hirsch EC (2001) Is Bax a mitochondrial mediator in apoptotic death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease? J Neurochem 76:1785–1793.
- Hattori N, Tanaka M, Ozawa T, Mizuno Y (1991) Immunohstochemical Studies on Complexes I, 11, 111, and IV of Mitochondria in Parhnson's Disease. Ann Neurol 30:563–571.
- Hauser RA, Schwarzschild MA (2005) Adenosine A2A receptor antagonists for Parkinson's disease: rationale, therapeutic potential and clinical experience. Drugs Aging 22:471–482 12p.
- Heffner TG, Hartman JA, Seiden LS (1980) Feeding Increases Dopamine Metabolism in the Rat Brain. Science 208:1168–1170.
- Hemingway C, Freeman JM, Pillas DJ, Pyzik PL (2001) The ketogenic diet: a 3- to 6-year follow-up of 150 children enrolled prospectively. Pediatrics 108:898–905.
- Hettinger BD, Lee A, Linden J, Rosin DL (2001) Ultrastructural localization of adenosine A2A receptors suggests multiple cellular sites for modulation of GABAergic neurons in rat striatum. J Comp Neurol 431:331–346.

- Hori A, Tandon P, Holmes GL, Stafstrom CE (1997) Ketogenic diet: effects on expression of kindled seizures and behavior in adult rats. Epilepsia 38:750–758.
- Imai Y (2012) Mitochondrial Regulation by PINK1-Parkin Signaling, Mitochondrial Regulation by PINK1-Parkin Signaling. Int Sch Res Not Int Sch Res Not 2012, 2012:e926160.
- Kanda T, Jackson MJ, Smith LA, Pearce RKB, Nakamura J, Kase H, Kuwana Y, Jenner P (2000) Combined Use of the Adenosine A2A Antagonist KW-6002 with I-DOPA or with Selective D1 or D2 Dopamine Agonists Increases Antiparkinsonian Activity but Not Dyskinesia in MPTP-Treated Monkeys. Exp Neurol 162:321–327.
- Kashiwaya Y, Takeshima T, Mori N, Nakashima K, Clarke K, Veech RL (2000) d-β-Hydroxybutyrate protects neurons in models of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97:5440–5444.
- Kato T, Ishii K, Ikeda M (1984) Voltammetry in unanesthetized rat: Increases of striatal dopamine turnover after unilateral haloperidol injection into the substantia nigra. Neurosci Lett 50:263–267.
- Kawamura M, Ruskin DN, Masino SA (2010) Metabolic Autocrine Regulation of Neurons Involves Cooperation among Pannexin Hemichannels, Adenosine Receptors, and KATP Channels. J Neurosci 30:3886–3895.
- Kim DY, Davis LM, Sullivan PG, Maalouf M, Simeone TA, Brederode J van, Rho JM (2007) Ketone bodies are protective against oxidative stress in neocortical neurons. J Neurochem 101:1316–1326.
- Koga K, Kurokawa M, Ochi M, Nakamura J, Kuwana Y (2000) Adenosine A(2A) receptor antagonists KF17837 and KW-6002 potentiate rotation induced by dopaminergic drugs in hemi-Parkinsonian rats. Eur J Pharmacol 408:249–255.
- Kondo T, Mizuno Y (2015) A Long-Term Study of Istradefylline Safety and Efficacy in Patients With Parkinson Disease: Clin Neuropharmacol 38:41–46.
- Krügel U, Kittner H, Franke H, Illes P (2003) Purinergic modulation of neuronal activity in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system in vivo. Synapse 47:134–142.
- Langston JW, Ballard P, Tetrud JW, Irwin I (1983) Chronic Parkinsonism in Humans due to a Product of Meperidine-Analog Synthesis. Science 219:979–980.
- Leino RL, Gerhart DZ, Duelli R, Enerson BE, Drewes LR (2001) Diet-induced ketosis increases monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) levels in rat brain. Neurochem Int 38:519–527.
- Lipman IJ, Boykin ME, Flora RE (1974) Glucose intolerance in parkinson's disease. J Chronic Dis 27:573–579.

- Lovatt D, Xu Q, Liu W, Takano T, Smith NA, Schnermann J, Tieu K, Nedergaard M (2012) Neuronal adenosine release, and not astrocytic ATP release, mediates feedback inhibition of excitatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:6265–6270.
- Lusardi TA, Akula KK, Coffman SQ, Ruskin DN, Masino SA, Boison D (2015) Ketogenic diet prevents epileptogenesis and disease progression in adult mice and rats. Neuropharmacology 99:500–509.
- Maalouf M, Sullivan PG, Davis L, Kim DY, Rho JM (2007) ketones inhibit mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species production following glutamate excitotoxicity by increasing NADH oxidation. Neuroscience 145:256–264.
- Masino SA, Diao L, Illes P, Zahniser NR, Larson GA, Johansson B, Fredholm BB, Dunwiddie TV (2002) Modulation of Hippocampal Glutamatergic Transmission by ATP Is Dependent on Adenosine A1 Receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303:356–363.
- Masino SA, Geiger JD (2008) Are purines mediators of the anticonvulsant/neuroprotective effects of ketogenic diets? Trends Neurosci 31:273–278.
- Masino SA, Kawamura Jr. M, Ruskin DN, Geiger JD, Boison D (2012) Purines and neuronal excitability: Links to the ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 100:229–238.
- Masino SA, Li T, Theofilas P, Sandau US, Ruskin DN, Fredholm BB, Geiger JD, Aronica E, Boison D (2011) A ketogenic diet suppresses seizures in mice through adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptors. J Clin Invest 121:2679–2683.
- Masino SA, Rho JM (2012) Mechanisms of Ketogenic Diet Action. In: Jasper's Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies, 4th ed. (Noebels JL, Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Olsen RW, Delgado-Escueta AV, eds). Bethesda (MD): National Center for Biotechnology Information (US). Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK98219/ [Accessed February 5, 2016].
- Mhyre TR, Boyd JT, Hamill RW, Maguire-Zeiss KA (2012) Parkinson's Disease. Subcell Biochem 65:389–455.
- Miyazaki I, Asanuma M (2008) Dopaminergic neuron-specific oxidative stress caused by dopamine itself. Acta Med Okayama 62:141–150.
- Morelli M, Blandini F, Simola N, Hauser RA, Morelli M, Blandini F, Simola N, Hauser RA (2012) Receptor Antagonism and Dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease, Receptor Antagonism and Dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease. Park Dis Park Dis 2012, 2012:e489853.
- Morelli M, Carta AR, Kachroo A, Schwarzschild MA (2010) Pathophysiological roles for purines: adenosine, caffeine and urate. Prog Brain Res 183:183–208.

- Morris ME, Iansek R, Matyas TA, Summers JJ (1994) The pathogenesis of gait hypokinesia in Parkinson's disease. Brain J Neurol 117 (Pt 5):1169–1181.
- NIH (n.d.) Parkinson's Disease: Hope Through Research. Available at: http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/parkinsons\_disease/detail\_parkinsons\_diseas e.htm [Accessed March 20, 2016].
- Ochi M, Koga K, Kurokawa M, Kase H, Nakamura J, Kuwana Y (2000) Systemic administration of adenosine A(2A) receptor antagonist reverses increased GABA release in the globus pallidus of unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats: a microdialysis study. Neuroscience 100:53–62.
- Okada M, Mizuno K, Kaneko S (1996) Adenosine A1 and A2 receptors modulate extracellular dopamine levels in rat striatum. Neurosci Lett 212:53–56.
- Pani AK, Jiao Y, Sample KJ, Smeyne RJ (2014) Neurochemical Measurement of Adenosine in Discrete Brain Regions of Five Strains of Inbred Mice. PLoS ONE 9:e92422.
- Paoli A, Cenci L, Grimaldi KA (2011) Effect of ketogenic mediterranean diet with phytoextracts and low carbohydrates/high-protein meals on weight, cardiovascular risk factors, body composition and diet compliance in Italian council employees. Nutr J 10:112.
- Paoli A, Rubini A, Volek JS, Grimaldi KA (2013) Beyond weight loss: a review of the therapeutic uses of very-low-carbohydrate (ketogenic) diets. Eur J Clin Nutr 67:789–796.
- Parker WD, Boyson SJ, Parks JK (1989) Abnormalities of the electron transport chain in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 26:719–723.
- Parkinson J (2002) An Essay on the Shaking Palsy. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 14:223–236.
- Pellegrino L, Pellegrino A, Cushman A (1979) A Stereotaxic Atlas of the Rat Brain, 2nd ed. New York: Plenum Press.
- Perier C, Bové J, Vila M (2012) Mitochondria and programmed cell death in Parkinson's disease: apoptosis and beyond. Antioxid Redox Signal 16:883–895.
- Pinna A, Di Chiara G, Wardas J, Morelli M (1996) Blockade of A2a Adenosine Receptors Positively Modulates Turning Behaviour and c-Fos Expression Induced by D1 Agonists in Dopamine-denervated Rats. Eur J Neurosci 8:1176–1181.
- Pinna A, Fenu S, Morelli M (2001) Motor stimulant effects of the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist SCH 58261 do not develop tolerance after repeated treatments in 6hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats. Synap N Y N 39:233–238.

- Pinna A, Ko WKD, Costa G, Tronci E, Fidalgo C, Simola N, Li Q, Tabrizi MA, Bezard E, Carta M, Morelli M (2016) Antidyskinetic effect of A2A and 5HT1A/1B receptor ligands in two animal models of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord:n/a – n/a.
- Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, Katz LC, LaMantia A-S, McNamara JO, Williams SM (2001) Circuits within the Basal Ganglia System. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10847/ [Accessed March 20, 2016].
- Quarta D, Ferré S, Solinas M, You Z-B, Hockemeyer J, Popoli P, Goldberg SR (2004) Opposite modulatory roles for adenosine A1 and A2A receptors on glutamate and dopamine release in the shell of the nucleus accumbens. Effects of chronic caffeine exposure. J Neurochem 88:1151–1158.
- Rebola N, Canas PM, Oliveira CR, Cunha RA (2005) Different synaptic and subsynaptic localization of adenosine A2A receptors in the hippocampus and striatum of the rat. Neuroscience 132:893–903.
- Rivkees SA, Price SL, Zhou FC (1995) Immunohistochemical detection of A1 adenosine receptors in rat brain with emphasis on localization in the hippocampal formation, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and basal ganglia. Brain Res 677:193–203.
- Rosin DL, Robeva A, Woodard RL, Guyenet PG, Linden J (1998) Immunohistochemical localization of adenosine A2A receptors in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 401:163–186.
- Ruskin DN, Masino SA (2012) The Nervous System and Metabolic Dysregulation: Emerging Evidence Converges on Ketogenic Diet Therapy. Front Neurosci 6 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3312079/ [Accessed August 5, 2015].
- Ruskin DN, Ross JL, Kawamura M, Ruiz TL, Geiger JD, Masino SA (2011) A ketogenic diet delays weight loss and does not impair working memory or motor function in the R6/2 1J mouse model of Huntington's disease. Physiol Behav 103:501–507.
- Ruskin DN, Suter TACS, Ross JL, Masino SA (2013) Ketogenic diets and thermal pain: dissociation of hypoalgesia, elevated ketones, and lowered glucose in rats. J Pain Off J Am Pain Soc 14:467–474.
- Salim H, Ferré S, Dalal A, Peterfreund RA, Fuxe K, Vincent J-D, Lledo P-M (2000) Activation of Adensine A1 and A2A Receptors Modulates Dopamine D2 Receptor-Induced Responses in Stably Transfected Human Neuroblastoma Cells. J Neurochem 74:432– 439.
- Sandyk R (1993) The relationship between diabetes mellitus and Parkinson's disease. Int J Neurosci 69:125–130.

- Schapira AH, Cooper JM, Dexter D, Clark JB, Jenner P, Marsden CD (1990) Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 54:823–827.
- Scott GS, Hooper DC (2001) The role of uric acid in protection against peroxynitritemediated pathology. Med Hypotheses 56:95–100.
- Short JL, Ledent C, Borrelli E, Drago J, Lawrence AJ (2006) Genetic interdependence of adenosine and dopamine receptors: Evidence from receptor knockout mice. Neuroscience 139:661–670.
- Sirven J, Whedon B, Caplan D, Liporace J, Glosser D, O'Dwyer J, Sperling MR (1999) The ketogenic diet for intractable epilepsy in adults: preliminary results. Epilepsia 40:1721–1726.
- Socała K, Nieoczym D, Pieróg M, Wlaź P (2015) Role of the adenosine system and glucose restriction in the acute anticonvulsant effect of caprylic acid in the 6 Hz psychomotor seizure test in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 57:44–51.
- Stafstrom CE, Rho JM (2012) The Ketogenic Diet as a Treatment Paradigm for Diverse Neurological Disorders. Front Pharmacol 3 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3321471/ [Accessed August 10, 2015].
- Strömberg I, Popoli P, Müller CE, Ferré S, Fuxe K (2000a) Electrophysiological and behavioural evidence for an antagonistic modulatory role of adenosine A2A receptors in dopamine D2 receptor regulation in the rat dopamine-denervated striatum. Eur J Neurosci 12:4033–4037.
- Strömberg I, Popoli P, Müller CE, Ferré S, Fuxe K (2000b) Electrophysiological and behavioural evidence for an antagonistic modulatory role of adenosine A2A receptors in dopamine D2 receptor regulation in the rat dopamine-denervated striatum. Eur J Neurosci 12:4033–4037.
- Szot P, Weinshenker D, Rho JM, Storey TW, Schwartzkroin PA (2001) Norepinephrine is required for the anticonvulsant effect of the ketogenic diet. Dev Brain Res 129:211–214.
- Tatton NA (2000) Increased Caspase 3 and Bax Immunoreactivity Accompany Nuclear GAPDH Translocation and Neuronal Apoptosis in Parkinson's Disease. Exp Neurol 166:29–43.
- Tieu K, Perier C, Caspersen C, Teismann P, Wu D-C, Yan S-D, Naini A, Vila M, Jackson-Lewis V, Ramasamy R, Przedborski S (2003) D-β-Hydroxybutyrate rescues mitochondrial respiration and mitigates features of Parkinson disease. J Clin Invest 112:892–901.

- Van Den Eeden SK, Tanner CM, Bernstein AL, Fross RD, Leimpeter A, Bloch DA, Nelson LM (2003) Incidence of Parkinson's disease: variation by age, gender, and race/ethnicity. Am J Epidemiol 157:1015–1022.
- Veech RL (2004) The therapeutic implications of ketone bodies: the effects of ketone bodies in pathological conditions: ketosis, ketogenic diet, redox states, insulin resistance, and mitochondrial metabolism. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:309–319.
- Veech RL (2014) Ketone ester effects on metabolism and transcription. J Lipid Res 55:2004–2006.
- Villeneuve LM, Pernell PR, Boska MD, Fox HS (2014) Early Expression of Parkinson's Disease-Related Mitochondrial Abnormalities in PINK1 Knockout Rats. Mol Neurobiol 53:171–186.
- Weinshenker D (2008) The contribution of norepinephrine and orexigenic neuropeptides to the anticonvulsant effect of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 49:104–107.
- Yang X, Cheng B (2010) Neuroprotective and Anti-inflammatory Activities of Ketogenic Diet on MPTP-induced Neurotoxicity. J Mol Neurosci 42:145–153.
- Yudkoff M, Daikhin Y, Nissim I, Lazarow A, Nissim I (2004) Ketogenic diet, brain glutamate metabolism and seizure control. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:277– 285.
- Żarnowski T, Chorągiewicz T, Tulidowicz-Bielak M, Thaler S, Rejdak R, Żarnowska I, Turski WA, Gasior M (2011) Ketogenic diet increases concentrations of kynurenic acid in discrete brain structures of young and adult rats. J Neural Transm 119:679–684.
- Zhang Y-X, Yamashita H, Ohshita T, Sawamoto N, Nakamura S (1995) ATP increases extracellular dopamine level through stimulation of P2Y purinoceptors in the rat striatum. Brain Res 691:205–212.
- Ziegler DR, Ribeiro LC, Hagenn M, Siqueira Ionara R, Araújo E, Torres ILS, Gottfried C, Netto CA, Gonçalves C-A (2003) Ketogenic Diet Increases Glutathione Peroxidase Activity in Rat Hippocampus. Neurochem Res 28:1793–1797.

## **APPENDIX – A. Solution Preparation**

<u>3x PBS (1L):</u>

24.0g NaCl

8.01g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> •7H<sub>2</sub>O

0.6g KCl

 $0.74g \text{ KH}_2\text{PO}_4$ 

The above solutes were dissolved in 1L of  $\text{DiH}_2\text{O}$  and pH adjusted to 7.45 using 10M NaOH. The solution was then vacuum filtered.

Note: 1x PBS used for animal perfusion was created by diluting 300mL of 3x PBS to 900mL using  $DiH_2O$ .

## Stock Purine Megamix (PurM):

 $10\mu$ g of the following chemicals were dissolved in 100mL of DiH<sub>2</sub>O: Adenosine, guanosine, inosine, xanthine, hypoxanthine, guanine, and uric acid.

## Stock DHBA Internal Standard Solution (DISS):

Two concentration levels of DISS were used for different groups of animals over the course of the study (see appendix C for details).

 $8\mu$ g/mL DISS was created by diluting  $4\mu$ g of DHBA to 500mL using DiH<sub>2</sub>O.

 $16\mu$ g/mL DISS was created by diluting  $8\mu$ g of DHBA to 500mL using DiH<sub>2</sub>O.

# Preparation of Mobile Phase (MP) Solutions:

MP-A (1L)

0.1g sodium 1-pentane sulfonate

27.2g potassium phosphate monobasic

The quantities of the two solutes above were dissolved in 1L with DiH<sub>2</sub>O, pH adjusted to

3.5 using 85% phosphoric acid, vacuum filtered for HPLC, then degassed for 45 min.

MP-B (250mL)

25mL of HPLC-grade acetonitrile was diluted to 250mL using MP-A and degassed for 15-20min.

## **APPENDIX – B. Pre-surgical Data Collection and Surgical Procedure**

## DigiGait Behavioral Testing:

Rats were placed on the DigiGait automated treadmill at a decline of 13 degrees and a treadmill speed of 18cm/s. Rats from each study group were selected for behavioral testing based on their initial willingness to walk. Representatives from each study group were established and tested once every month starting at 3 months old. During testing, rats that were reluctant to walk were placed in a 'redo' category and tested again at the end of the session.

## Blood Testing for βHB and Glucose:

Blood tests were conducted three times, once during each of the last three months before sacrifice, by the tail prick method. Ketone and glucose levels were measured using  $\beta$ HB and glucose test strips and digital meters.

## Surgical Procedure:

Scrubs, lab coats, facemasks, protective eyewear, and gloves were worn at all times during surgeries. Approximately 4-5mL of isoflurane liquid anesthetic was added to an isolation chamber located in a fume hood. Animals were placed in the chamber until signs of consciousness were no longer observed. To ensure that the animal was deeply anesthetized a sharp foot pinch was administered. A nose cap containing a cotton ball and approximately 1mL of isoflurane was used intermittently during surgery to ensure that animals remained fully anesthetized. An incision below the ribcage was made so that the heart was exposed. A

sharp 18-guage needle was placed in the left ventricle of the heart and valve of the gravitydriven 1x PBS perfusion apparatus was opened. A small incision in the right atrium was made to allow efflux of blood. Perfusions were allowed to continue until fixation tremors were observed. At this point, the sharp-tipped needle was replaced with a dull-tipped needle which was reinserted into the left ventricle (Note: rats A-D were not perfused with the dulltipped needle, nor was the sharp-tipped needle position adjusted during perfusion). To ensure a complete perfusion of the cerebral vasculature the dull-tipped needle was positioned in the ascending aorta. The perfusion was continued until all of the following signs were observed: fluid exiting the incision in the right atrium was clear (no blood), heart and liver were observed to show significantly reduced blood content (less red, more pale/pink in color), and fixation tremors ceased. Animals were then decapitated and brains were rapidly dissected and placed in a solution of ethanol and dry ice.

## **APPENDIX – C. Post-surgical Tissue Processing and Data Collection Procedures**

Brain Slicing, Tissue Punching, and Brain Sample Preparation:

- Microtome was cooled to -20 C using Physitemp regulator. The blade was cooled with dry ice
- Brains were mounted using freezing medium and oriented with frontal regions facing upward.
- 3. Five 1.5mm slices were taken in order to take tissue punches from the following regions:
  Slice 1: Motor cortex
  Slice 2: Nucleus accumbens, somatosensory cortex, and anterior caudate
  Slice 3: Posterior caudate
  Slice 4: Hippocampus
  Slice 5: Substantia nigra
- 4. Bilateral punches were taken from the regions described above, placed in blue 1.5mL centrifuge tubes containing 400uL HPLC-grade ethanol, and sonicated using the Tekmar pestle sonicator until tissue was thoroughly broken up.
- 5. Samples were then spun down at 2400rpm for 30 min in a microcentrifuge stored in -4 C.
- After 30 min, the supernatant was carefully removed and transferred to yellow 1.5mL microcentrifuge tubes. (Note: blue microcentrifuge tubes were stored in a -80 C freezer for protein assays).
- 7. The ethanol in the supernatant was evaporated in the rotovap at 45 C for 30 min.

For Rats A-H:

8. The neurotransmitter pellet remaining in the yellow tubes were resuspended in 1mL of a  $0.1\mu$ g/mL solution of DHBA in DiH<sub>2</sub>O.

For Rats I-L:

8.  $7\mu$ L of an  $8\mu$ g/mL DHBA solution was added to  $500\mu$ L of DiH<sub>2</sub>O and neurotransmitter pellet.

For Rats M-X:

8.  $7\mu$ L of a 16.6 $\mu$ g/mL DHBA solution was added to 500 $\mu$ L of DiH<sub>2</sub>O and neurotransmitter pellet.

9. All brain samples were stored in a -80 C freezer until analyzed by HPLC.

## HPLC Analysis:

A  $100\mu$ L sample loop attached to a manual injector was used for sample injections. Prior to running calibration standards or brain samples, an injection of DiH<sub>2</sub>O was run with the dual MP gradient protocol to establish an acceptable baseline. In a random ordered, each of the five calibration standards was injected and a calibration curve was generated for each of the 7 purine analytes (Note: detection of guanine and uric acid was not consistent and, as such, analysis of these two compounds could not be included in the study). Calibration standards were prepared as follows:

Standard	Volume of DISS	Volume of PurM	Volume of DiH <sub>2</sub> O	
Concentration				
0.01µg	25µL	2 µL	1973 µL	
0.05µg	25µL	10 µL	1965 µL	
0.1µg	25µL	$20 \mu L$	1955 µL	
0.5µg	25µL	$100 \mu L$	1875 μL	
1.0µg	25µL	200 µL	1775 µL	

Preparation of Purine Calibration Standards:

Once a full set of calibration standards had been run and calibration curves generated, brain samples were run. On days following the injection of all five calibration standards the typical injection order was as follows:

 $DiH_2O$ 

Calibration Std

3-4 Brain Samples

Calibration Std

3-4 Brain Samples

Calibration Std

Between each injection, the injection syringe and sample loop were rinsed first with a 50/50

Methanol/DiH<sub>2</sub>O solution, then with 100% DiH<sub>2</sub>O.

# Protein Assays:

Standards:

- Created 1N Folin Reagent by diluting 2N Folin & Ciocalteau Reagent by half using DiH<sub>2</sub>O
- 2) Protein standards were created in 2mL microcentrifuge tubes as follows:

Std #	$\mu$ L DiH <sub>2</sub> O	$\mu$ L Albumin	Protein (mg)	
		Protein		
0	500	0	0	
1	480	20	0.04	
2	470	30	0.06	
3	460	40	0.08	
4	450	50	0.10	
5	430	70	0.14	

3) 500µL of Modified Lowry Protein Assay Reagent (MLPAR) was added to each standard, mixed, and allowed to react for 10 min.

- After 10 min 100µL of 1N Folin reagent was added to each standard, mixed, and allowed to react for 30 min.
- 5) Absorbance of each standard was measured at 750nm

For Brain Samples:

- 1)  $500\mu$ L of DiH<sub>2</sub>O was added to each protein sample, then sonicated to mix
- 2)  $500\mu$ L of MLPAR was added to each sample, mixed, and allowed to react for 10 min.
- After 10 min 100µL 1N Folin reagent was added to each sample, mixed, and allowed to react for 30 min.
- 4) Absorbance at 750nm was measured for each sample.

#### TH-Staining Procedure:

Four rats (one from each study group) were perfused using 4% paraformaldehyde and post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde until they could be sliced. Full brains were placed in a sucrose gradient solution 30% sucrose and PBS for 24 hours, then transferred to 20% sucrose for 24 hours, and finally to a 10% solution for 24 hours. Brains were then frozen in a slurry of dry ice and 2-methyl butane for 4-8 min. Stored at -80 C for 24 hours. Defrosted in a -20 C freezer prior to slicing. Slices 20 microns thick of the substantia nigra were taken using a Cryocut 1800

set to 22 C and placed on Superfrost (ThermoFisher brand) slides. Slides were stored at -20 C until staining procedure was carried out. Slices were then fixed with acetone pre-cooled to -20 C. Once acetone had evaporated sections were washed twice in 1x PBS for 5 minutes. Slides were then incubated in 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in a 5% solution of goat serum in 1x PBS for 10 min to quench peroxidase enzyme activity. After 10 min, slides were rinsed with DiH<sub>2</sub>O for 3 min. Slides were then washed again using 1x PBS for 5 min. Slides were then incubated for 30 min with diluted normal blocking serum 1x PBS and goat serum. After 30 min, excess serum was blotted from slides. Slides were then incubated overnight in 1:500 ratio of anti-TH to 1x PBS and goat serum solution of primary anti-TH antibody diluted using 1x PBS and 5% serum. Slides were then placed in a makeshift humidity chamber with a wet paper towel to keep slides moist. Parafin covers were then placed on each slide and left for overnight (ideally left for 10 hours). The following day paraffin covers were removed slides were washed 3 times for 10 min with 1x PBS. Sections were then incubated for 30 min with 1:200 solution of biotinylated secondary antibody diluted using PBS serum. After 30 min slides were washed with 1x PBS for 5 min, then incubated for 30 min with Vectastain ABC reagent. After 30 min slides were washed in 1x PBS for 5 min, then  $100\mu$ L of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate working solution was applied for 2-10 min (until color of staining was revealed). Once color of stains appeared, slides were placed in 1x PBS to stop the reaction. 1x PBS was then blotted from slides and  $100\mu$ L of glycerol was carefully applied to the coverslips before placing the coverslips on the slides.

# APPENDIX – D. Supplementary Data

 Table 1. Summary of purine neurochemistry by brain region<sup>1</sup> in ketogenic diet (KD)- and normal
 diet (ND)-fed PINK1-KO (KO) and wild-type (WT) animals<sup>2</sup>

	MC	SC	NA	AC	PC	HC	SN
Adenosine							
WT/ND	2.17	1.29	2.18	1.35	2.45	1.45	0.80
	±0.59	±0.11	±0.29	±0.38	±0.42	±0.13	±0.06
WT/KD	0.78	0.89	0.67	0.90	0.78	0.85	0.41
	±0.28	±0.45	±0.36	±0.44	±0.45	±0.43	±0.37
KO/ND	2.21	1.38	1.43 ±	1.47	1.58	1.31	2.88
	±0.99	±0.47	0.28	±0.17	±0.25	±0.32	±1.36
KO/KD	1.20	1.06	0.94	1.29	1.04	1.02	0.50
	±0.15	±0.11	±0.17	±0.03	±0.10	±0.04	±0.05
Guanosine							
WT/ND	0.07	0.13	0.11	0.07	0.12	0.07	0.05
	±0.02	±0.04	±0.03	±0.02	±0.05	±0.03	±0.01
WT/KD	0.31	0.21	0.17	0.18	0.19	0.28	0.35
	±0.22	±0.14	±0.10	±0.08	±0.10	±0.12	±0.22
KO/ND	1.10	1.05	1.10	1.04	1.17	1.29	0.50
	±0.73	±0.49	±0.48	±0.49	±0.59	±0.71	±0.29
KO/KD	0.08	0.08	0.06	0.09	0.04	0.08	0.07
	±0.02	±0.03	±0.02	±0.03	±0.02	±0.04	±0.00
Inosine							
WT/ND	0.66	0.60	0.81	0.63	0.59	0.83	1.16
	±0.08	±0.03	±0.04	±0.10	±0.15	±0.21	±0.15
WT/KD	0.38	0.38	0.35	0.30	0.34	0.47	0.47
	±0.08	±0.16	±0.12	±0.13	±0.13	±0.20	±0.44
KO/ND	0.23	0.28	0.31	0.13	0.26	0.54	0.46
	±0.13	±0.23	±0.26	±0.11	±0.15	±0.47	±0.36
KO/KD	0.36	0.42	0.42	0.39	0.34	0.59	0.74
	±0.06	±0.07	±0.02	±0.04	±0.06	±0.11	±0.15
Xanthine							
WT/ND	0.09	0.08	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.08	0.07
	±0.02	±0.03	±0.01	±0.02	±0.01	±0.01	±0.01
WT/KD	1.11	0.43	0.77	0.43	0.51	0.63	0.68
	±1.04	±0.37	±0.67	±0.35	±0.42	±0.53	±0.60
KO/ND	0.46	0.35	0.34	0.34	0.32	0.56	0.61
	±0.17	±0.12	±0.11	±0.12	±0.14	±0.26	±0.29
KO/KD	0.16	0.10	0.08	0.08	0.06	0.07	0.05
	±0.07	±0.05	±0.03	±0.02	±0.01	±0.02	±0.01

Hypoxanthine							
WT/ND	2.39	1.97	2.06	1.89	2.16	1.64	2.28
	±0.45	±0.58	±0.33	±0.21	±0.25	±0.24	±0.44
WT/KD	2.01	1.38	1.35	1.27	1.36	1.60	1.41
	±0.60	±0.14	±0.10	±0.12	±0.09	±0.12	±0.14
KO/ND	0.86	0.73	0.74	0.72	0.81	0.53	0.65
	±0.77	±0.66	±0.66	±0.67	±0.69	±0.45	±0.58
KO/KD	1.52	1.52	1.30	1.31	1.27	1.56	1.49
	±0.07	±0.16	±0.06	±0.18	±0.04	±0.19	±0.09

<sup>1</sup> MC – motor cortex; SC – somatosensory cortex; NA – nucleus accumbens; AC – anterior

caudate; PC - posterior caudate; HC - hippocampus; SN - substantia nigra

<sup>2</sup> Values given in  $\mu$ g/mg protein ± SEM

# Images of Various Lesions and Ventricular Abnormalities



**Image 1** Rat D incomplete perfusion of cerebral vasculature and third ventricle asymmetry in posterior caudate (PC) slice.



**Image 2** Rat D incomplete perfusion of cerebral vasculature and lateral lesion of caudate observed in hippocampal (HC) slice.



**Image 3** Rat F lesion and perfusion-induced ventricular asymmetry.



Image 4 Rat H perfusion-induced asymmetrical third ventricle in posterior caudate (PC) slice.



Image 5 Rat H perfusion-induced exploded left third ventricle in hippocampal (HC) slice.



**Image 6** Rat L lesion first observed in motor cortex (MC) slice.



**Image 7** Rat L lesion continued into posterior caudate (PC) slice.



**Image 8** Rat L lesion started to close up after posterior caudate (PC) slice.



Image 9 Rat K lesion in right dorsal accumbal tissue.

## **APPENDIX – E. Manuscript from related undergraduate work**

The following is a manuscript submitted for publication. It represents my undergraduate work which used the same HPLC method for quantifying purines as the current thesis to examine how the KD affects this neurochemical system.

# The ketogenic diet does not alter tissue purine levels in mouse brain

Jacob G. Rubin,<sup>§</sup> and William H. Church<sup>\*, T</sup>

§ Neuroscience Program, Trinity College, 300 Summit Street, Hartford, CT, 06106, USA

F Department of Chemistry and Neuroscience Program, Faculty of Chemistry and Neuroscience, Trinity College,

300 Summit Street, Hartford, CT, 06106, USA

## Highlights

- 3-week ketogenic diet did not alter tissue purine levels in wild-type mice
- Control-fed mice showed negative correlation between dopamine activity and adenosine levels in the cortex
- Ketogenic-fed mice did not exhibit negative correlation between dopamine activity and adenosine levels in the cortex

# Abstract

Adenosine has been implicated in the therapeutic effect of the ketogenic diet. It is also known to modulate dopaminergic activity. We previously showed that the ketogenic diet increased cortical dopamine activity. This study evaluated whether the ketogenic diet produced changes in brain adenosine levels and purine activity. Samples from the previous study were analyzed for purines using a high performance liquid chromatography method for the quantification of

adenosine, hypoxanthine, xanthine, and inosine. No alteration in tissue levels of purinergic compounds was found in the ketogenic diet treatment group when compared to the control diet group. A negative correlation between dopaminergic activity and adenosine tissue levels was found in the cortex of the control diet group but was absent in samples from the ketogenic diet group. These findings support previous literature regarding interaction between the dopaminergic and purinergic neuronal systems and suggest a possible ketogenic diet-induced change in the purinergic modulation of cortical dopaminergic activity in mice.

Keywords: Adenosine; Ketogenic Diet; Dopamine; Purines; Epilepsy

## 1. Introduction

Epilepsy is a neurological disorder associated with episodic seizures, sensory disturbances, loss of consciousness, and unusual behavior. The ketogenic diet (KD) has successfully been used to treat medically refractory epilepsy, especially in children (Sirven et al., 1999; Hemingway et al., 2001). The diet consists of a high fat, low protein, and low carbohydrate regimen that produces a change in metabolism such that blood glucose levels decrease and ßhydroxybutyrate levels increase (Hartman et al., 2007). Currently the mechanisms through which the KD ameliorates epileptic seizures is poorly understood.

Studies examining the neurochemical changes associated with the KD have been limited to date. The KD has previously been reported to affect glutamatergic systems (Yudkoff et al., 2004; Dahlin et al., 2005), adenosine (Masino et al., 2011; Ruskin and Masino, 2012) and catecholamine transmitters, including dopamine (DA) (Szot et al., 2001; Weinshenker, 2008; Dahlin et al., 2012). Increased levels of the tryptophan metabolite kynurenic acid in the striatum

and hippocampus, but not the cortex, have also been observed in rats fed a KD (Żarnowski et al., 2011). Previous work in our lab found that mice fed a chronic (three-week) KD had increased DAergic activity in the motor and somatosensory cortices (Church et al., 2014).

The KD has been found to improve mitochondrial function and thus energy metabolism (Stafstrom and Rho, 2012). It has been suggested that metabolic changes induced by the KD impact purine neurochemistry. Kawamura et al. (Kawamura et al., 2010) showed that reducing extracellular glucose causes the neuronal release of ATP. Zhang et al. (Zhang et al., 1995) found that stimulation of  $P_{2Y}$  receptors, by ATP, resulted in increased extracellular DA in the rat striatum. Adenosine, the breakdown product of extracellular ATP, also has the ability to modulate DAergic activity (Krügel et al., 2003; Fuxe et al., 2007). Alteration of adenosine levels has been suggested to be associated with the anti-seizure effects of the KD (Masino and Geiger, 2008; Greene, 2011). Taken together, these findings suggest a potential change in the interaction between adenosine and DAergic activity under the metabolic state induced by the KD.

The purpose of the present work was to determine if the KD (1) altered adenosine levels in brain tissue and (2) altered the activity of the purinergic system. We analyzed samples from six brain regions in mice fed a KD for three weeks for adenosine and its metabolites. While no change in tissue levels of purines was found, we observed that a negative correlation between cortical DA activity and adenosine levels in control diet mice was absent in KD mice.

## 2. Materials & Methods

## 2.1. General overview, and animals

The brain samples were obtained from the study by Church et al. (Church et al., 2014). The current study evaluated the neurochemical concentrations of adenosine (Ado), inosine (Ino), xanthine (Xanth), and hypoxanthine (Hypo). Purine content was measured in the motor cortex (MC), somatosensory cortex (SC), nucleus accumbens (NA), anterior and posterior caudateputamen (ACP and PCP), and the midbrain (MB) using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with UV and electrochemical detection (Burdett et al., 2013). All animal care, use, and surgical procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care, the Use Committee of Trinity College, and are in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

#### 2.2. Chemicals

Two mobile phases were used for HPLC analysis. Mobile phase A (MP-A) contained 0.52 mM sodium 1-pentane sulfonate, 0.20 M potassium phosphate monobasic and was pH adjusted to 3.5 using 85% phosphoric acid (Baker Analyzed; Phillipsburg, NJ, USA). Mobile phase B (MP-B) contained identical concentrations as MP-A plus an addition of 10% acetonitrile (HPLC-Grade, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). All purine chemicals used as standards were acquired from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

## **2.3. HPLC Parameters**

The neuroactive compounds were separated using a dual-gradient reverse-phase HPLC system with electrochemical (EC) and UV detection. The mobile phases were run at a flow rate of 0.5mL/min. Separation was carried out at 22°C on a 150 x 2.00mm LUNA  $5\mu$ m C18 analytical column (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA) using a dual mobile phase gradient to achieve proper separation of the analytes. The gradient was 100% MP-A for 6 minutes increasing to 55% MP-B at 14 minutes. The 45% MP-A and 55% MP-B gradient was maintained from 14 – 18 minutes then returned to 100% MP-A. Total separation time was 20 minutes and the system was allowed to equilibrate for 15 min between each sample injection.

71
The sample injection volume was  $100\mu$ L. Dual electrochemical detection (ESA Coulochem III;  $E_1 = -150$ mV;  $E_2 = +500$ mV; Thermo Scientific, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) and UV detection ( $\lambda_1 = 254$ nm; BioAnalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN, USA) were used to quantify the purines. Chromatographic data was collected, stored, and analyzed using EZ Chrom chromatography software (Thermo Scientific).

### 2.4. Statistical Analysis

Differences in the levels of purines in the brain tissue were evaluated using two-way ANOVA with post hoc comparisons (Bonferroni; n = 6-7 brains per diet group; GraphPad Prism 6.0, GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

## 3. Results & Discussion

 Table 1. Purine tissue content from selected brain regions of mice fed either a normal chow (Control) or

 a ketogenic diet (KD) for three weeks.<sup>a</sup>

Brain	Hypoxanthine		Xanthine		Inosine		Adenosine	
Region	Control	KD	Control	KD	Control	KD	Control	KD
	132.9 ±							
MC	40.7	79.6 ± 7.7	$2.5 \pm 0.4$	$3.4 \pm 1.1$	$29.9 \pm 10.3$	$24.7 \pm 5.4$	71.8 ± 25.5	$50.4 \pm 6.6$
	$102.8 \pm$							
SC	23.3	$90.1 \pm 6.5$	$1.7 \pm 0.3$	$3.6 \pm 1.0$	19.5 ± 6.4	$26.7\pm4.7$	54.4 ± 19.8	$49.2 \pm 7.2$
	78.3 ±							
NA	18.9	61.1 ± 13.1	8.5 ± 4.9	$4.0 \pm 2.3$	29.2 ± 9.9	$30.2 \pm 7.1$	$40.2 \pm 12.3$	42.9 ±11.6
	155.1 ±							
ACP	88.8	$48.8 \pm 9.5$	$6.5 \pm 2.9$	$1.7 \pm 0.7$	48.4 ± 19.5	15.8 ± 2.6	71.2 ± 32.4	34.6 ± 7.3
	$42.2 \pm$							
РСР	18.9	51.6 ± 7.4	$6.2 \pm 2.4$	2.6 ± 1.3	16.7 ± 5.2	$20.9 \pm 3.5$	$40.8 \pm 13.0$	31.1 ± 3.2
	111.9 ±							
MB	37.4	44.8 ± 15.4	$4.2 \pm 2.4$	$1.8 \pm 0.5$	$42.0\pm9.7$	34.5 ± 13.1	23.1 ± 7.2	13.9 ± 4.0

<sup>a</sup> Data are reported as ug/mg protein ± S.E.M. for n = 6 and 7 KD and control, respectively

#### 3.1. A ketogenic diet does not alter tissue purine levels in mice

A three-week KD regimen did not alter endogenous purine levels in any of the brain regions analyzed (Table 1). Figure 1 shows that a KD had no effect on adenosine activity in the regions analyzed. The mechanism by which the KD ameliorates seizures in animals and humans is not known. Numerous neurochemical systems have been implicated with recent studies focusing on energy metabolism and adenosine(Greene, 2011; Ruskin and Masino, 2012). Previously it has been reported that transgenic mice with spontaneous hippocampal seizures experienced decreased seizure frequency following a KD. After being fed a three-week KD these transgenic mice were reported to have low endogenous adenosine levels due to an overexpression of adenosine kinase (Fedele et al., 2005). After being fed a three-week KD, seizure frequency decreased by almost 90% but could be restored by injecting exogenous glucose or adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptor antagonists (Masino et al., 2011). The current findings indicate that the KD did not alter endogenous purine levels in wild-type (WT) mice (Table 1). Although not statistically significant, KD-fed mice were observed to have lower adenosine levels than control-fed mice across almost all the brain regions analyzed. This finding is consistent with a recent paper which reported that non-disease-state mice fed a KD show lower levels of adenosine in the hippocampus than controls (Lusardi et al., 2015). However, this may not be reflective of diet-induced changes in neuronal purinergic activity. One measure frequently used to evaluate neuronal activity is to compare the levels of metabolites to the parent compound (Heffner et al., 1980; Kato et al., 1984; Church et al., 1986; Desole et al., 1996). We subsequently evaluated adenosine activity (Fig 1) and saw no alteration as a result of the KD. These findings do not support an enhanced augmentation of adenosine as a possible anti-seizure mechanism for the

KD. However, the methods used in this study measure both intra- and extracellular purine levels. It is possible that the KD alters mechanisms exclusively impacting extracellular levels of adenosine that would not be observable under the present experimental conditions. Additionally, the contribution of purines from residual blood found in post-mortem brain tissue could be a confounding factor. This is currently under investigation.



Figure 1. Effect of the KD on adenosine activity. Adenosine activity was defined as the sum of adenosine metabolite levels (hypoxanthine, xanthine, and inosine) divided by adenosine levels. No significant differences in the ratio of adenosine metabolites to adenosine were detected; (p>0.05), Control n = 7, KD n = 6.

#### **3.2.** The KD alters the relationship between purinergic and dopaminergic systems

Since adenosine has a main role in the CNS as a modulator of DA activity, we were interested to see if the KD altered the relationship between DA activity and adenosine levels. Previous research from this lab has shown that the KD increases DA activity exclusively in the motor and somatosensory cortices (Church et al., 2014). Figure 2 reports the correlation between DAergic activity and adenosine in brain samples of both cortical regions. A negative correlation was observed in animals fed the control diet (r=-0.88, p<0.05, n=6). This negative correlation

was not observed in animals fed the KD (r=+0.44, p=n.s., n=10). Midbrain samples from control and KD animals showed similar results (CD: r=-0.81, p=0.09; KD: r=+0.41, p=n.s.). No other brain regions showed this type of relationship. Interactions between adenosine and the DAergic system are well documented (Ferre et al., 1991; Ferré et al., 1991; Pinna et al., 1996; Ginés et al., 2000; Salim et al., 2000; Short et al., 2006). Krügel et al. (Krügel et al., 2003) reported that perfusion of adenosine into the nucleus accumbens significantly reduced extracellular DA concentration and suggests that stimulation of A<sub>1</sub> receptors facilitates this decrease. Both the DAergic and adenosinergic systems have been implicated in the modulation of seizures (Fedele et al., 2006; Bozzi and Borrelli, 2013). The negative correlation between adenosine and DA activity is consistent with an inhibitory modulation by adenosine. Inhibitory  $A_1$  receptors  $(A_1R)$ are heavily expressed in the cortex (Rivkees et al., 1995). While it is not clear if the present findings represent a loss of inhibitory modulation, a putative mechanism could be as follows: (a) the KD produced increased release of ATP with resultant increased extracellular adenosine levels; (b) this increase in extracellular adenosine could alter the modulatory effect on DA cells from one of  $A_1R$ -dependent inhibition to one of excitation by presynaptic  $A_{2A}$  receptors; (c) increased A2A receptor stimulation would result in increased DAergic activity (Okada et al., 1996; Quarta et al., 2004); (d) the increased DAergic activity may then act on cortical glutamatergic neurons impacting seizure activity. De Sarro et al. (De Sarro et al., 1999) reported seizure suppression in an animal model of reflex epilepsy by A<sub>2A</sub> agonists. Furthermore, the results of a recently published study indicate that selective antagonism of A1Rs and A2ARs reverses the anticonvulsant effect of caprylic acid in mice (Socała et al., 2015).



**Figure 2**. The correlation between cortical tissue adenosine levels and DA activity<sup>*a*</sup> as measured by the sum of DA metabolites (DOPAC and HVA) divided by DA levels. Correlation coefficients (r) were -0.88 (p<0.05, n=6) and +0.44 (p=n.s., n=10) for control and KD, respectively. Values from motor and somatosensory cortices were combined for each diet group. <sup>*a*</sup> DA activity values taken from ref. 3

To our knowledge, the current paper is the first to evaluate the effect of a chronic KD on tissue levels of purines in multiple brain regions of experimental animals. Figure 3 is a graphical representation of adenosine tissue content in the brain structures analyzed. Interestingly, adenosine levels varied in a descending manner in both diet groups from anterior to posterior ranging from  $61.1 \mu$ g/mg protein in the motor cortex to  $18.5 \mu$ g/mg protein in the midbrain. A recent paper measuring cerebral adenosine levels in five strains of mice using HPLC reported wide variability across five inbred mouse strains (Pani et al., 2014). For example, in the cerebral cortex the strain with the highest adenosine levels was 415% greater than the strain with the lowest adenosine levels. The present paper reports cortical adenosine levels at  $71.8\mu$ g/mg protein compared to  $0.013\mu$ g/mg wet weight reported by Pani and his colleagues. One possible explanation for could be that the samples used in the current study had previously been used in

another and may have been thawed and frozen multiple times allowing for possible breakdown of upstream adenosine metabolites.



**Figure 3.** Adenosine levels in various structures of mouse brain were evaluated in eight week-old mice fed either a ketogenic diet or control diet for three weeks. No significant differences in adenosine levels were detected; (p>0.05). Brain structures: MC = motor cortex, SC = somatosensory cortex, NA = nucleus accumbens, ACP = anterior caudate putamen, PCP = posterior caudate putamen, MB = midbrain.

## 4. Conclusion

While the current results suggest that the KD does not chronically alter the endogenous levels of adenosine in brain tissue, they provide valuable insight as to the potential interactions between the DAergic and purinergic systems and their role in the anti-epileptic effects of the KD. Further study aims to determine whether extracellular purine levels specifically are affected by the KD in order to more directly elucidate the role of adenosine in the diet's efficacy.

# **Author Information**

# **Corresponding Author**

\*Phone: (860)-297-2215. E-mail: william.church@trincoll.edu

## **Author Contributions**

Study conception and design: W.H.C. Acquisition of data: J.G.R. Analysis and interpretation:

W.H.C., J.G.R. Drafting of manuscript: J.G.R. Critical revision: W.H.C., J.G.R.

## Funding

This work was supported by the Trinity College Summer Research Program.

### Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

# Acknowledgements

We acknowledge Michelle Dyer for technical assistance and David N. Ruskin for useful

comments.

# References

- Ahlskog JE, Muenter MD (2001) Frequency of levodopa-related dyskinesias and motor fluctuations as estimated from the cumulative literature. Mov Disord Off J Mov Disord Soc 16:448–458.
- Al-Mudallal AS, LaManna JC, Lust WD, Harik SI (1996) Diet-induced ketosis does not cause cerebral acidosis. Epilepsia 37:258–261.
- Al-Mudallal AS, Levin BE, Lust WD, Harik SI (1995) Effects of unbalanced diets on cerebral glucose metabolism in the adult rat. Neurology 45:2261–2265.
- American Diabetes Association (2005) Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 28 Suppl 1:S37–S42.
- Baranano KW, Hartman AL (2008) The Ketogenic Diet: Uses in Epilepsy and Other Neurologic Illnesses. Curr Treat Options Neurol 10:410–419.

- Beckstead RM, Domesick VB, Nauta WJH (1979) Efferent connections of the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area in the rat. Brain Res 175:191–217.
- Bough KJ, Wetherington J, Hassel B, Pare JF, Gawryluk JW, Greene JG, Shaw R, Smith Y, Geiger JD, Dingledine RJ (2006) Mitochondrial biogenesis in the anticonvulsant mechanism of the ketogenic diet. Ann Neurol 60:223–235.
- Bové J, Prou D, Perier C, Przedborski S (2005) Toxin-Induced Models of Parkinson's Disease. NeuroRx 2:484–494.
- Bozzi Y, Borrelli E (2013) The role of dopamine signaling in epileptogenesis. Front Cell Neurosci 7 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3774988/ [Accessed August 10, 2015].
- Burdett TC, Desjardins CA, Logan R, McFarland NR, Chen X, Schwarzschild MA (2013) Efficient determination of purine metabolites in brain tissue and serum by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrochemical and UV detection. Biomed Chromatogr 27:122–129.
- Buse MG, Johnson AH, Kuperminc D, Buse J (1970) Effect of  $\alpha$ -adrenergic blockade on insulin secretion in man. Metabolism 19:219–225.
- Cheng B, Yang X, An L, Gao B, Liu X, Liu S (2009) Ketogenic diet protects dopaminergic neurons against 6-OHDA neurotoxicity via up-regulating glutathione in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Brain Res 1286:25–31.
- Church WH, Adams RE, Wyss LS (2014) Ketogenic diet alters dopaminergic activity in the mouse cortex. Neurosci Lett 571:1–4.
- Church WH, Sabol KE, Justice Jr. JB, Neill DB (1986) Striatal dopamine activity and unilateral barpressing in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 25:865–871.
- Church WH, Ward VL (1994) Uric acid is reduced in the substantia nigra in parkinson's disease: Effect on dopamine oxidation. Brain Res Bull 33:419–425.
- Chu S, Xiong W, Zhang D, Soylu H, Sun C, Albensi BC, Parkinson FE (2013) Regulation of adenosine levels during cerebral ischemia. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34:60–66.
- Cipriani S, Chen X, Schwarzschild MA (2010) Urate: a novel biomarker of Parkinson's disease risk, diagnosis and prognosis. Biomark Med 4:701–712.
- Dahlin M, Elfving Å, Ungerstedt U, Åmark P (2005) The ketogenic diet influences the levels of excitatory and inhibitory amino acids in the CSF in children with refractory epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 64:115–125.

- Dahlin M, Månsson J-E, Åmark P (2012) CSF levels of dopamine and serotonin, but not norepinephrine, metabolites are influenced by the ketogenic diet in children with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 99:132–138.
- Dauer W, Przedborski S (2003) Parkinson's Disease: Mechanisms and Models. Neuron 39:889–909.
- Dave KD et al. (2014) Phenotypic characterization of recessive gene knockout rat models of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis 70:190–203.
- Delaney SM, Geiger JD (1996) Brain regional levels of adenosine and adenosine nucleotides in rats killed by high-energy focused microwave irradiation. J Neurosci Methods 64:151–156.
- De Sarro G, De Sarro A, Di Paola ED, Bertorelli R (1999) Effects of adenosine receptor agonists and antagonists on audiogenic seizure-sensible DBA/2 mice. Eur J Pharmacol 371:137–145.
- Desole MS, Esposito G, Fresu L, Migheli R, Sircana S, Delogu R, Miele M, Miele E (1996) Further investigation of allopurinol effects on MPTP-induced oxidative stress in the striatum and brain stem of the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:377–383.
- DeVivo DC, Leckie MP, Ferrendelli JS, McDougal DB (1978) Chronic ketosis and cerebral metabolism. Ann Neurol 3:331–337.
- Dixon AK, Gubitz AK, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Richardson PJ, Freeman TC (1996) Tissue distribution of adenosine receptor mRNAs in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 118:1461–1468.
- Dorsey ER, Constantinescu R, Thompson JP, Biglan KM, Holloway RG, Kieburtz K, Marshall FJ, Ravina BM, Schifitto G, Siderowf A, Tanner CM (2007) Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. Neurology 68:384–386.
- Fedele DE, Gouder N, Güttinger M, Gabernet L, Scheurer L, Rülicke T, Crestani F, Boison D (2005) Astrogliosis in epilepsy leads to overexpression of adenosine kinase, resulting in seizure aggravation. Brain 128:2383–2395.
- Fedele DE, Li T, Lan JQ, Fredholm BB, Boison D (2006) Adenosine A1 receptors are crucial in keeping an epileptic focus localized. Exp Neurol 200:184–190.
- Fenu S, Pinna A, Ongini E, Morelli M (1997) Adenosine A2A receptor antagonism potentiates L-DOPA-induced turning behaviour and c-fos expression in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats. Eur J Pharmacol 321:143–147.
- Ferré S, Herrera-Marschitz M, Grabowska-Andén M, Ungerstedt U, Casas M, Andén N-E (1991) Postsynaptic dopamine/adenosine interaction: I. Adenosine analogues

inhibit dopamine D2-mediated behaviour in short-term reserpinized mice. Eur J Pharmacol 192:25–30.

- Ferre S, von Euler G, Johansson B, Fredholm BB, Fuxe K (1991) Stimulation of high-affinity adenosine A2 receptors decreases the affinity of dopamine D2 receptors in rat striatal membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:7238–7241.
- Freeman JM, Vining EPG (1998) The Efficacy of the Ketogenic Diet--1998: A Prospective Evaluation of Intervention in 150 Children. Pediatrics 102:1358.
- Fuxe K, Ferré S, Genedani S, Franco R, Agnati LF (2007) Adenosine receptor–dopamine receptor interactions in the basal ganglia and their relevance for brain function. Physiol Behav 92:210–217.
- Fuxe K, Ungerstedt U (1974) Action of caffeine and theophyllamine on supersensitive dopamine receptors. Med Biol 52:48–54.
- Fuzzati-Armentero M-T, Cerri S, Levandis G, Ambrosi G, Montepeloso E, Antoninetti G, Blandini F, Baqi Y, Müller CE, Volpini R, Costa G, Simola N, Pinna A (2015) Dual target strategy: combining distinct non-dopaminergic treatments reduces neuronal cell loss and synergistically modulates l-DOPA-induced rotational behavior in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 134:740–747.
- Gao X, O'Reilly ÉJ, Schwarzschild MA, Ascherio A (2016) Prospective study of plasma urate and risk of Parkinson disease in men and women. Neurology:10.1212/WNL.00000000002351.
- Ginés S, Hillion J, Torvinen M, Le Crom S, Casadó V, Canela EI, Rondin S, Lew JY, Watson S, Zoli M, Agnati LF, Vernier P, Lluis C, Ferré S, Fuxe K, Franco R (2000) Dopamine D1 and adenosine A1 receptors form functionally interacting heteromeric complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:8606–8611.
- Giuliani P, Ballerini P, Buccella S, Ciccarelli R, Rathbone MP, Romano S, D'Alimonte I, Caciagli F, Iorio PD, Pokorski M (2014) Guanosine Protects Glial Cells Against 6-Hydroxydopamine Toxicity. In: Neurotransmitter Interactions and Cognitive Function (Pokorski M, ed), pp 23–33 Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Springer International Publishing. Available at: http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/5584\_2014\_73 [Accessed February 3, 2016].
- Graham DG (1978) Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones. Mol Pharmacol 14:633–643.
- Greene RW (2011) Adenosine: front and center in linking nutrition and metabolism to neuronal activity. J Clin Invest 121:2548–2550.

- Hanrott K, Gudmunsen L, O'Neill MJ, Wonnacott S (2006) 6-Hydroxydopamine-induced Apoptosis Is Mediated via Extracellular Auto-oxidation and Caspase 3-dependent Activation of Protein Kinase Cδ. J Biol Chem 281:5373–5382.
- Hartman AL, Gasior M, Vining EPG, Rogawski MA (2007) The Neuropharmacology of the Ketogenic Diet. Pediatr Neurol 36:281–292.
- Hartmann A, Michel PP, Troadec J-D, Mouatt-Prigent A, Faucheux BA, Ruberg M, Agid Y, Hirsch EC (2001) Is Bax a mitochondrial mediator in apoptotic death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease? J Neurochem 76:1785–1793.
- Hattori N, Tanaka M, Ozawa T, Mizuno Y (1991) Immunohstochemical Studies on Complexes I, 11, 111, and IV of Mitochondria in Parhnson's Disease. Ann Neurol 30:563–571.
- Hauser RA, Schwarzschild MA (2005) Adenosine A2A receptor antagonists for Parkinson's disease: rationale, therapeutic potential and clinical experience. Drugs Aging 22:471–482 12p.
- Heffner TG, Hartman JA, Seiden LS (1980) Feeding Increases Dopamine Metabolism in the Rat Brain. Science 208:1168–1170.
- Hemingway C, Freeman JM, Pillas DJ, Pyzik PL (2001) The ketogenic diet: a 3- to 6-year follow-up of 150 children enrolled prospectively. Pediatrics 108:898–905.
- Hettinger BD, Lee A, Linden J, Rosin DL (2001) Ultrastructural localization of adenosine A2A receptors suggests multiple cellular sites for modulation of GABAergic neurons in rat striatum. J Comp Neurol 431:331–346.
- Hori A, Tandon P, Holmes GL, Stafstrom CE (1997) Ketogenic diet: effects on expression of kindled seizures and behavior in adult rats. Epilepsia 38:750–758.
- Imai Y (2012) Mitochondrial Regulation by PINK1-Parkin Signaling, Mitochondrial Regulation by PINK1-Parkin Signaling. Int Sch Res Not Int Sch Res Not 2012, 2012:e926160.
- Kanda T, Jackson MJ, Smith LA, Pearce RKB, Nakamura J, Kase H, Kuwana Y, Jenner P (2000) Combined Use of the Adenosine A2A Antagonist KW-6002 with I-DOPA or with Selective D1 or D2 Dopamine Agonists Increases Antiparkinsonian Activity but Not Dyskinesia in MPTP-Treated Monkeys. Exp Neurol 162:321–327.
- Kashiwaya Y, Takeshima T, Mori N, Nakashima K, Clarke K, Veech RL (2000) d-β-Hydroxybutyrate protects neurons in models of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97:5440–5444.

- Kato T, Ishii K, Ikeda M (1984) Voltammetry in unanesthetized rat: Increases of striatal dopamine turnover after unilateral haloperidol injection into the substantia nigra. Neurosci Lett 50:263–267.
- Kawamura M, Ruskin DN, Masino SA (2010) Metabolic Autocrine Regulation of Neurons Involves Cooperation among Pannexin Hemichannels, Adenosine Receptors, and KATP Channels. J Neurosci 30:3886–3895.
- Kim DY, Davis LM, Sullivan PG, Maalouf M, Simeone TA, Brederode J van, Rho JM (2007) Ketone bodies are protective against oxidative stress in neocortical neurons. J Neurochem 101:1316–1326.
- Koga K, Kurokawa M, Ochi M, Nakamura J, Kuwana Y (2000) Adenosine A(2A) receptor antagonists KF17837 and KW-6002 potentiate rotation induced by dopaminergic drugs in hemi-Parkinsonian rats. Eur J Pharmacol 408:249–255.
- Kondo T, Mizuno Y (2015) A Long-Term Study of Istradefylline Safety and Efficacy in Patients With Parkinson Disease: Clin Neuropharmacol 38:41–46.
- Krügel U, Kittner H, Franke H, Illes P (2003) Purinergic modulation of neuronal activity in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system in vivo. Synapse 47:134–142.
- Langston JW, Ballard P, Tetrud JW, Irwin I (1983) Chronic Parkinsonism in Humans due to a Product of Meperidine-Analog Synthesis. Science 219:979–980.
- Leino RL, Gerhart DZ, Duelli R, Enerson BE, Drewes LR (2001) Diet-induced ketosis increases monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) levels in rat brain. Neurochem Int 38:519–527.
- Lipman IJ, Boykin ME, Flora RE (1974) Glucose intolerance in parkinson's disease. J Chronic Dis 27:573–579.
- Lovatt D, Xu Q, Liu W, Takano T, Smith NA, Schnermann J, Tieu K, Nedergaard M (2012) Neuronal adenosine release, and not astrocytic ATP release, mediates feedback inhibition of excitatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:6265–6270.
- Lusardi TA, Akula KK, Coffman SQ, Ruskin DN, Masino SA, Boison D (2015) Ketogenic diet prevents epileptogenesis and disease progression in adult mice and rats. Neuropharmacology 99:500–509.
- Maalouf M, Sullivan PG, Davis L, Kim DY, Rho JM (2007) ketones inhibit mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species production following glutamate excitotoxicity by increasing NADH oxidation. Neuroscience 145:256–264.
- Masino SA, Diao L, Illes P, Zahniser NR, Larson GA, Johansson B, Fredholm BB, Dunwiddie TV (2002) Modulation of Hippocampal Glutamatergic Transmission by ATP Is Dependent on Adenosine A1 Receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303:356–363.

- Masino SA, Geiger JD (2008) Are purines mediators of the anticonvulsant/neuroprotective effects of ketogenic diets? Trends Neurosci 31:273–278.
- Masino SA, Kawamura Jr. M, Ruskin DN, Geiger JD, Boison D (2012) Purines and neuronal excitability: Links to the ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 100:229–238.
- Masino SA, Li T, Theofilas P, Sandau US, Ruskin DN, Fredholm BB, Geiger JD, Aronica E, Boison D (2011) A ketogenic diet suppresses seizures in mice through adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptors. J Clin Invest 121:2679–2683.
- Masino SA, Rho JM (2012) Mechanisms of Ketogenic Diet Action. In: Jasper's Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies, 4th ed. (Noebels JL, Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Olsen RW, Delgado-Escueta AV, eds). Bethesda (MD): National Center for Biotechnology Information (US). Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK98219/ [Accessed February 5, 2016].
- Mhyre TR, Boyd JT, Hamill RW, Maguire-Zeiss KA (2012) Parkinson's Disease. Subcell Biochem 65:389–455.
- Miyazaki I, Asanuma M (2008) Dopaminergic neuron-specific oxidative stress caused by dopamine itself. Acta Med Okayama 62:141–150.
- Morelli M, Blandini F, Simola N, Hauser RA, Morelli M, Blandini F, Simola N, Hauser RA (2012) Receptor Antagonism and Dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease, Receptor Antagonism and Dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease. Park Dis Park Dis 2012, 2012:e489853.
- Morelli M, Carta AR, Kachroo A, Schwarzschild MA (2010) Pathophysiological roles for purines: adenosine, caffeine and urate. Prog Brain Res 183:183–208.
- Morris ME, Iansek R, Matyas TA, Summers JJ (1994) The pathogenesis of gait hypokinesia in Parkinson's disease. Brain J Neurol 117 (Pt 5):1169–1181.
- NIH (n.d.) Parkinson's Disease: Hope Through Research. Available at: http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/parkinsons\_disease/detail\_parkinsons\_diseas e.htm [Accessed March 20, 2016].
- Ochi M, Koga K, Kurokawa M, Kase H, Nakamura J, Kuwana Y (2000) Systemic administration of adenosine A(2A) receptor antagonist reverses increased GABA release in the globus pallidus of unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats: a microdialysis study. Neuroscience 100:53–62.
- Okada M, Mizuno K, Kaneko S (1996) Adenosine A1 and A2 receptors modulate extracellular dopamine levels in rat striatum. Neurosci Lett 212:53–56.
- Pani AK, Jiao Y, Sample KJ, Smeyne RJ (2014) Neurochemical Measurement of Adenosine in Discrete Brain Regions of Five Strains of Inbred Mice. PLoS ONE 9:e92422.

- Paoli A, Cenci L, Grimaldi KA (2011) Effect of ketogenic mediterranean diet with phytoextracts and low carbohydrates/high-protein meals on weight, cardiovascular risk factors, body composition and diet compliance in Italian council employees. Nutr J 10:112.
- Paoli A, Rubini A, Volek JS, Grimaldi KA (2013) Beyond weight loss: a review of the therapeutic uses of very-low-carbohydrate (ketogenic) diets. Eur J Clin Nutr 67:789–796.
- Parker WD, Boyson SJ, Parks JK (1989) Abnormalities of the electron transport chain in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 26:719–723.
- Parkinson J (2002) An Essay on the Shaking Palsy. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 14:223–236.
- Pellegrino L, Pellegrino A, Cushman A (1979) A Stereotaxic Atlas of the Rat Brain, 2nd ed. New York: Plenum Press.
- Perier C, Bové J, Vila M (2012) Mitochondria and programmed cell death in Parkinson's disease: apoptosis and beyond. Antioxid Redox Signal 16:883–895.
- Pinna A, Di Chiara G, Wardas J, Morelli M (1996) Blockade of A2a Adenosine Receptors Positively Modulates Turning Behaviour and c-Fos Expression Induced by D1 Agonists in Dopamine-denervated Rats. Eur J Neurosci 8:1176–1181.
- Pinna A, Fenu S, Morelli M (2001) Motor stimulant effects of the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist SCH 58261 do not develop tolerance after repeated treatments in 6hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats. Synap N Y N 39:233–238.
- Pinna A, Ko WKD, Costa G, Tronci E, Fidalgo C, Simola N, Li Q, Tabrizi MA, Bezard E, Carta M, Morelli M (2016) Antidyskinetic effect of A2A and 5HT1A/1B receptor ligands in two animal models of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord:n/a – n/a.
- Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, Katz LC, LaMantia A-S, McNamara JO, Williams SM (2001) Circuits within the Basal Ganglia System. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10847/ [Accessed March 20, 2016].
- Quarta D, Ferré S, Solinas M, You Z-B, Hockemeyer J, Popoli P, Goldberg SR (2004) Opposite modulatory roles for adenosine A1 and A2A receptors on glutamate and dopamine release in the shell of the nucleus accumbens. Effects of chronic caffeine exposure. J Neurochem 88:1151–1158.
- Rebola N, Canas PM, Oliveira CR, Cunha RA (2005) Different synaptic and subsynaptic localization of adenosine A2A receptors in the hippocampus and striatum of the rat. Neuroscience 132:893–903.

- Rivkees SA, Price SL, Zhou FC (1995) Immunohistochemical detection of A1 adenosine receptors in rat brain with emphasis on localization in the hippocampal formation, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and basal ganglia. Brain Res 677:193–203.
- Rosin DL, Robeva A, Woodard RL, Guyenet PG, Linden J (1998) Immunohistochemical localization of adenosine A2A receptors in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 401:163–186.
- Ruskin DN, Masino SA (2012) The Nervous System and Metabolic Dysregulation: Emerging Evidence Converges on Ketogenic Diet Therapy. Front Neurosci 6 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3312079/ [Accessed August 5, 2015].
- Ruskin DN, Ross JL, Kawamura M, Ruiz TL, Geiger JD, Masino SA (2011) A ketogenic diet delays weight loss and does not impair working memory or motor function in the R6/2 1J mouse model of Huntington's disease. Physiol Behav 103:501–507.
- Ruskin DN, Suter TACS, Ross JL, Masino SA (2013) Ketogenic diets and thermal pain: dissociation of hypoalgesia, elevated ketones, and lowered glucose in rats. J Pain Off J Am Pain Soc 14:467–474.
- Salim H, Ferré S, Dalal A, Peterfreund RA, Fuxe K, Vincent J-D, Lledo P-M (2000) Activation of Adensine A1 and A2A Receptors Modulates Dopamine D2 Receptor-Induced Responses in Stably Transfected Human Neuroblastoma Cells. J Neurochem 74:432– 439.
- Sandyk R (1993) The relationship between diabetes mellitus and Parkinson's disease. Int J Neurosci 69:125–130.
- Schapira AH, Cooper JM, Dexter D, Clark JB, Jenner P, Marsden CD (1990) Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 54:823–827.
- Scott GS, Hooper DC (2001) The role of uric acid in protection against peroxynitritemediated pathology. Med Hypotheses 56:95–100.
- Short JL, Ledent C, Borrelli E, Drago J, Lawrence AJ (2006) Genetic interdependence of adenosine and dopamine receptors: Evidence from receptor knockout mice. Neuroscience 139:661–670.
- Sirven J, Whedon B, Caplan D, Liporace J, Glosser D, O'Dwyer J, Sperling MR (1999) The ketogenic diet for intractable epilepsy in adults: preliminary results. Epilepsia 40:1721–1726.
- Socała K, Nieoczym D, Pieróg M, Wlaź P (2015) Role of the adenosine system and glucose restriction in the acute anticonvulsant effect of caprylic acid in the 6 Hz psychomotor seizure test in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 57:44–51.

- Stafstrom CE, Rho JM (2012) The Ketogenic Diet as a Treatment Paradigm for Diverse Neurological Disorders. Front Pharmacol 3 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3321471/ [Accessed August 10, 2015].
- Strömberg I, Popoli P, Müller CE, Ferré S, Fuxe K (2000a) Electrophysiological and behavioural evidence for an antagonistic modulatory role of adenosine A2A receptors in dopamine D2 receptor regulation in the rat dopamine-denervated striatum. Eur J Neurosci 12:4033–4037.
- Strömberg I, Popoli P, Müller CE, Ferré S, Fuxe K (2000b) Electrophysiological and behavioural evidence for an antagonistic modulatory role of adenosine A2A receptors in dopamine D2 receptor regulation in the rat dopamine-denervated striatum. Eur J Neurosci 12:4033–4037.
- Szot P, Weinshenker D, Rho JM, Storey TW, Schwartzkroin PA (2001) Norepinephrine is required for the anticonvulsant effect of the ketogenic diet. Dev Brain Res 129:211–214.
- Tatton NA (2000) Increased Caspase 3 and Bax Immunoreactivity Accompany Nuclear GAPDH Translocation and Neuronal Apoptosis in Parkinson's Disease. Exp Neurol 166:29–43.
- Tieu K, Perier C, Caspersen C, Teismann P, Wu D-C, Yan S-D, Naini A, Vila M, Jackson-Lewis V, Ramasamy R, Przedborski S (2003) D-β-Hydroxybutyrate rescues mitochondrial respiration and mitigates features of Parkinson disease. J Clin Invest 112:892–901.
- Van Den Eeden SK, Tanner CM, Bernstein AL, Fross RD, Leimpeter A, Bloch DA, Nelson LM (2003) Incidence of Parkinson's disease: variation by age, gender, and race/ethnicity. Am J Epidemiol 157:1015–1022.
- Veech RL (2004) The therapeutic implications of ketone bodies: the effects of ketone bodies in pathological conditions: ketosis, ketogenic diet, redox states, insulin resistance, and mitochondrial metabolism. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:309–319.
- Veech RL (2014) Ketone ester effects on metabolism and transcription. J Lipid Res 55:2004–2006.
- Villeneuve LM, Pernell PR, Boska MD, Fox HS (2014) Early Expression of Parkinson's Disease-Related Mitochondrial Abnormalities in PINK1 Knockout Rats. Mol Neurobiol 53:171–186.
- Weinshenker D (2008) The contribution of norepinephrine and orexigenic neuropeptides to the anticonvulsant effect of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 49:104–107.

- Yang X, Cheng B (2010) Neuroprotective and Anti-inflammatory Activities of Ketogenic Diet on MPTP-induced Neurotoxicity. J Mol Neurosci 42:145–153.
- Yudkoff M, Daikhin Y, Nissim I, Lazarow A, Nissim I (2004) Ketogenic diet, brain glutamate metabolism and seizure control. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:277– 285.
- Żarnowski T, Chorągiewicz T, Tulidowicz-Bielak M, Thaler S, Rejdak R, Żarnowska I, Turski WA, Gasior M (2011) Ketogenic diet increases concentrations of kynurenic acid in discrete brain structures of young and adult rats. J Neural Transm 119:679–684.
- Zhang Y-X, Yamashita H, Ohshita T, Sawamoto N, Nakamura S (1995) ATP increases extracellular dopamine level through stimulation of P2Y purinoceptors in the rat striatum. Brain Res 691:205–212.
- Ziegler DR, Ribeiro LC, Hagenn M, Siqueira Ionara R, Araújo E, Torres ILS, Gottfried C, Netto CA, Gonçalves C-A (2003) Ketogenic Diet Increases Glutathione Peroxidase Activity in Rat Hippocampus. Neurochem Res 28:1793–1797.